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Rocky Brands, Inc. is a leading designer, manufacturer and marketer of premium quality footwear and apparel marketed under a portiolio

of well recognized brand names including Rocky, Georgla Beot, Durango and Lehigh
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Depicted is a collage of the buildings that house the Rocky Brands Global

Headquarters in Southeastern Ohio. (Top left — Mike Braoks Office Building;

Top right — Repurposed factory building housing Outlet Store and offices; E
Center — John Brooks Office Building; Bottom — Distribution. Center.)
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DEAR SHAREHOLDERS

I am honored to be addressing you for the first time in Rocky Brands’ annual letter, the high]ighm af
which include historical data on our recent cost improvements, our 2011 product PL“I’ﬁeraI]l‘_'l'.i details
of our strategic growth plan, and a summary of our greatly improved financial pesition which underpins
and will enable our growth plan.

Before elaborating on these highlights I must first begin by thanking my predecessor, Mike Brooks, Chief
Executive Officer of Rocky Brands from 1990 through July, 201 | for his years of service and leadership.
Mike oversaw the significant growth and evolution of the Company including its successful initial public
offering in 1993 and the ransformational acquisition of E] Footwear in 2005, As Chairman of the Board
of Directors, Mike is still very much involved in shaping our strategic direction and we look forward to
benefiting from his experience in the years ahead.

Over the past several years we have worked diligently to create a stronger, more efficient organization and
improve our capi!;ai structure. The results of our efforts can dearly be seen in the numbers. Between 2007
and 201 | we reduced expenses by $27 million or 28% driven mainly by the restructuring of our retail
operations as we moved to the lower cost, web based, direct ship model. We also realized savings from
the consolidation of our distribution center and customer support nerworks following the acquisition of
E] Footwear.

The improvement in our balance sheet over this period has been equally dramarc. We began 2007

with funded debt in excess of $100 million and annual interest expense of more than $11.6 million.
Through a series of transactions that were funded by a successful equity offering and a new credit facility
we were able to retire our high interest senior term loan and replace the outstanding borrowings under
our previous credit agreement with funds that carry much lower interest rates. By the end of 2011, our
funded debt was down 66% ar $69 million to $35 million and our interest expense for the year was
under 31 million

So where do we go from here? Our continued emphasis on fiscal responsibility underlies our primary
strategic objectives of product innovation in footwear and apparel and brand growth. We are focused on
bringing to market the latest in durable, comfortable and functional products for the work, western, and
hunting categories while utilizing our core competencies to enter new markets.

Rocky, Georgia Boot, Durango, and Lehigh rank amongst the strongest brands in their respective spaces.
With our refined operating platform generating improved cash flow, we are now in a position to reinvest
the needed capital to grow our brands and capture additional market share. The initial results of our
product development initiatives can be witnessed in our 201 | performance when nearly 30% of our
whaolesale sales came trom products introduced 1n the last two years. Contributions 1o our performance
came from new products across our business. In our western segment, this included fashion forward
women's and children’s styles that are helping to improve mainstream distribution for the Durango
brand. We are also seeing success with work products that perform well in the rugged outdoors. And,
one of the fastest growing areas of our business m 201 | was our commercial military product line
invigorated by a fully drainable boot we developed lor the US. Navy Seals and a hyper lightweight,
non-combat boot that soldiers wear for travel and training. Both of these itemns have resonated well with
troops who purchase these goods through retail outlets on bases across America and around the world




Mike Brocks, Chairman of
the Roard and David Sharp,
Presadent and CEC

Now our strategy to grow our brands is twofold: increase our market share through greater shelf space ;
and higher productivity of our existing lines within our current account hase; and, extend our reach

further into new categories, new distribution channels and new geographies. We have dedicated the '
necessary resources to identify growth prospects adjacent to our core business, and develop sound 2

strategies to successfully penetrate these new, large opportunities. Of note, we are leveraging our strength
in work footwear to pursue professionals in the healthcare industry which is projected to add more

than 5.6 million jobs over the next decade. We are also targeting consumers who participate in outdoor
activities beyond the markets where we currently have distribution, who we believe will enjoy the
lightweight, durable, drainable, and waterproof benefits provided by our foorwear and apparel.

Finandially, we are in a position to execute our business }':l;m, having just cnmpiutud a successful year, ~n =
In 201 1, adjusted net income increased 56% to $12.0 million, or $1.60 per diluted share from $7.7 '
million, or $1.14 per diluted share in 2010.The significant improvement in our bottom line was driven
by an increased contribution from our higher-margin company owned brands, a pesitive operating
performance from our retail division for the first nme since we purchased the operations in 2005, and
lower interest expense.  For the year, gross margin imprcwud 130 basis points to 36.7%, operating
margin improved 70 basis points to 7.5%, and interest expense decreased to less than $1 million. With
regard to our balance sheet, we ended strong in 2011 with working capital of $108 million and funded
debt of $35 million.

Our groundwork on cost containment, focus on pmdu:l pcribrma.nce, future growth strategy, and recent
pudl}rrmnr_w_' confirm we are on the right course toward building a sustainable business that generates
consistent sales and earnings gru-wlh and creates value for our shareholders. We have a terrific team of
dedicated employees who are commirtted to taking this Company to the next level, Thank you to everyone
associated with Rocky Brands who contributed to our recent success, We look forward to your continued
support in the years ahead.

Sincerely,

Hc~

David N. Sharp
President & Chief Executive Officer




. WHOLESALE R ﬁ
FAMILY OF BRANDS

Rocky footwear and clothing is for people who are
active, engaged and on the go. ROCKY's superior
comfort, design, insulation, and waterproofing system
empowers them to achieve their personal best and
gives them the confidence to succeed

- CONFIDENCE IN ACTION




WHOLESALE
FAMILY OF BRANDS

Georgia Boot empowers those who work
hard — the workers that pride themselves
in building real value with their hands. We
help them achieve personal success by
creating performance-enhancing footwear
designed for the physical demands of their
specific trades.

- America’s Hardest Working Boot

75 YERRS OF
HELPING YOU
ACHIEVE




WHOLESALE

Slipping on your Durangos gives you a feeling of adventure
and freedom. You're ready to be mischevious, have fun,
live a little on the edge and maybe even live dangerously.
Durango is not a boot, its an attitude...

we call it OUTLAW FUN

L |
l|I I.| e | ' 1y |




RETAIL

DIRECT BUSINESS - LEHIGH

L ks ek Bocty, Waes Dipbheng, Sy Booow, Svaiers haats, Camens Ciomsieg - Litegs Outfitiens
(e [LE Il e o -
=i 7L M Gyt o Comem S | D m— Gk B, e A e e e el e s
l‘ LHIFFIRG TUR
-
OUTFITTERS com

s P s b W AT ey e s ety Semcers Comer T Bt et P S

3
CLEARANCE,

1 Z}/.

gl

1Y

Toww Hooir P i

‘ Custom product selection, Custom service,

Custom Fit. When it comes to occupational

footwear Lehigh Outfitters, with it's 90+ o
, year history and eye on the future, works | -
to serve your specific needs. Whether T
online or on site, there is a convenient
ordering and service system customized
to fit you.
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FUTURE WHOLESALE GROWTH OPPORTUNITES

For passionate outdoor enthusiasts who seek extreme adventures, Rocky S2V is a climate
mitigating system that combines cutting edge outdoor footwear and apparel with safety
and survival equipment, 52V is an innovative forerunner, fusing new age fabric and
design technologies with mission-crifical essentials that provide a piece of mind. Strong,
Smart, Versatile pertains not only to the praduct, but also to our adventurer--educated
consumers who advocate for brands with a rich heritage and authenticity, Those who
want guaranteed results vetted by the special operations communily and leading
professionals in the outdoor industry. For a world in flux, S2V traverses the unforeseen.

- Confidence In Action
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Rocky
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who are dynamic, performance driven and always on the rn

The rnovative nsdle provides for superior comfort and unigue
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who wears them, whie addressing the demands For comfort,
versatity and shyle Enpowerng healthcare professionds o
PurFa-m sifceed and endurs the excessive hours on ther Feat ad
the Fast pace of ther work ervironment

- CONFIDENCE N ACTION
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During Durango’s 50 year existence, the brand has become well known
for western and rock and roll inspired footwear. Historically the brand has
been widely distributed in rural and core western markets. With a focus on
more urban styling, we are now seeking distribution with retailers that will
access a younger, more sophisticated demographic segment; consumers
who live and shop in major metropolitan markets in the United States and
around the world.
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This Ammsal Report o Form 10-K contains forward-fooking statements within the meaming of Section 21E of the
Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended, and Section 27A of the Securities Ace of 1833, as amended. The
words “antfcipate, " “helieve, T Texpect, T Cestimate, T and "profiect T and similar words and expressions fdentily
forward-looking statements which speak only as of the date hereof. Investors are cawtioned that such statemeints
involve risks and encertainties that could caose actual resulis to differ materially from Sistorical or amticipated
results due fo many factors, including, but not limited fo, the factors discussed in “ltem 1A, Risk Factors. ™ The
Conmpany underfakes no olligation to publicly update or revise any forward-fooking statements.

PART 1
ITEM 1. BUSINESS.

All references 1o “we,” “us,” “our,” “Rocky Brands,” or the "Company” in this Annual Report on Form 10-K mean
Rocky Brands, Inc. and our subsidiaries.

We are a leading designer, manufacturer and marketer of premium quality footwear and apparel marketed under a
portfolio of well recognized brand names including Rocky, Georgia Bood, Durango. Lehigh, and the licensed brands
Mossy Oak and Michelin. Our brands have a long history of representing high quality, comfortable. functional and
durabile foptwear and our products are organized around live argel markeis: ouldoos, work. duly, commercial
military and western. Our footwear products incorporate varying features and are positioned across a range of
suggested retail price points from $29.95 for our value priced products o 337499 for our premium products. In
addition, as part of our strategy of outfitting consumers from head-1o-10e, we market complementary branded
apparel and accessories that we believe leverage the strength and positioning of each of our bramds,

Our products are distributed thoough three distine business segments: wholesale, retail and military. Inoour
whaolesale business, we distribute our products through a wide range of distribution channels representing over
10,000 redail store locations in the U5, and Canada, Our wholesale channels vary by product line and include
sporting goods stores, outdoor retailers, independent shoe retailers, hardware stores, catalogs. mass merchants,
uniform stores, farm store chains, specialty safety stores and other specialty retailers. Our retail business includes
direct sales of our products 1o consumers through our consumer and business websites, our Lehigh Outfitters mobile
and retail stores (including a Neet of rucks, supported by small warehouses that include retail stores, which we refer
to as mini-stores), and our Rocky outlet store. 'We also sell footwear under the Rocky label to the LS. military.

Competitive Strengths

Our competitive strengths include:

»  Strong portfodio of brands. We believe the Rocky, Georgia Boot, Durango, Lehigh, Maossy Oak and
Michelin brands are well recognized and established names that have a reputatbon for performance, quality
and comfort in the markets they serve: outdoor, work, duty, commercial military and western. ‘We plan o
continue strengthening these brands through product innovation in existing footwear markets, by extending
certain of these brands into our other target markets and by introducing complementary apparel and
accessories under our owned brands.

*  Commnimen fo produce fimmovaifon, We believe a critical component of our success. in the markeiplace has
been a result of our continued commitment 1o product innovation. Our consumers demand high quality,
durable products that incorporate the highest level of comfort and the most advanced technical features and
designs. We have a dedicated group of product design and development professionals. including well
recognized experts in the footwear and apparel industries. who continually imeract with consumers to better
understand their needs and are committed to ensuring our products reflect the most advanced designs.,
features and materials available in the marketplace.

* Long-term retafler relationships. We believe that our long history of designing, manufacturing and
marketing premium quality, branded footwear has enabled us o develop strong relationships with our
retailers in each of our distribution channels. We reinforce these relationships by continuing to offer
innovative footwear products, by continuing to meet the individual needs of each of our retailers and by
working with our retadlers to Improve the visual merchandising of our products in thelr stores. We believe
that strengthening our relationships with retailers will allow us to increase our presence through additional
store locatbons and expanded shelf space. improve our market position in a consolidating retal] environmemt
and enable us 1o better understand and meet the evolving needs of both our retailers and consumers.

3



Diverse product sourcing and manufacturing capabilities. We believe our strategy of utilizing both company
operated and third-pany facilities for the sourcing of our products, offers several advantages. Operating our
own facilities significantly improves our knowledge of the entire production process, which allows us to
miore efficiently source product from third parties that is of the highest quality and at the lowest cost
available. We intend to continue to source a higher proportion of our products from third-party
manufacturers, which we believe will enable us jo obtain high quality products at lower costs per unil.

Growth Strategy

We intend 1 increase our sales through the following strategies:

Expand into new target markets under existing brands. 'We believe there is significant opportunity to extend
certain of our brands into our other target markets. We intend 1o continue to introduce products across
varving feature sets and price points in order 1o meel the nesds of our reailers.

Cross-sell our brands to our refatlers. We believe that many retailers of our existing and acquired brands
target consumers with similar characteristics and, as a result, we believe there is significant opportunity o
offer each of our retailers a broader assorment of foolwear and apparel thal target multiple markets and span
a range of feature sets and price points.

Expand business internationally. ‘We intend to extend certain of our brands into international markets. We
believe this is & significant opportunity because of the long history and authentic heritage of these brands, We
intend on growing our business inernationally through a network of distributors.

Increase apparel offerings. We believe the long history and authentic heritage of our owned brands provide
significant opporiunity 1o extend each of these brands inlo complementary apparel. We intend to continue to
increase our Rocky apparel offerings and believe that similar opportunities exist for our Georgia Boot and
Drasrango brands in their respective markeis.

Acquire or develop new brands. We intend 1o continue to acquire or develop new brands that ane
complementary to our portfolio and could leverage our operational infrastructure and distribution network.

Product Lines

Owr product lines consist of high quality products that target the following markets:

Chntcdoor. Our outdoor product lines consist of footwear, apparel and accessory items marketed 1o outdoor
enthusiasts who spend time actively engaged in activities such as hunting. fishing, camping or hiking. Our
consumers demand high quality, durable products that incorporate the highest level of comfort and the most
advanced technical features, and we are committed (o ensuring our products reflect the most advanced
designs, features and materials available in the marketplace. Our outdoor product lines consist of all-season
sporthunting footwear, apparel and accessories that are typlcally waterproof and insulated and are designed
1o keep outdoorsmen comfortable on rugged terrain or in extreme weather conditions.

Work Our work product lines consist of footwear and appare]l marketed 1o industrial and construction
workers, as well as workers in the hosphality ndusiry, such as restaurants or hotels, All of our work
products are specially designed 1o be comfortable, incorporate safety features for specific work environments
or tasks and meet applicable federal and other standards for safety. This category includes products such as
safety toe footwear for stee] workers and non-slip footwear for kitchen workers.

Dty Our duty product line consists of footwear products marketed to law enforcement, security personnel
and postal employees who are required to spend a majority of time at work on their feet. Al of our duty
footwear styles are designed to be comfortable, Mlexible, lightweight, slip resistant and durable. Duty
footwear is generally designed to fit as part of a uniform and typically incorporates stylistic features, such as
black leather uppers in addition to the comfort features that are incorporated in all of our footwear products.

Commercial Military. Our commercial military product line consists of footwear products marketed 1o
milltary personnel as a substiiuie for the government issued military boots, Our commercial milltary bools
are designed 1o be comfonable, lightweight, and durable and are marketed under the Rocky brand name.
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*  |Western. Our western product line currently consists of authentic footwear products marketed to farmers and
ranchers who generally live in rural communities in North America. 'We also selectively market our western
footwear to consumers enamored with the westemn lifestyle.

Owr products are marketed under four well-recognized, proprietary brands, Rocky, Georgia Boot. Durango and
Lehigh, in addition o the licensed brands of Michelin and Mossy Oak,

Rocky

Rocky, established in 1979, is our premium priced line of branded footwear, appare] and accessories. We currently
design Rocky products for each of our four target markets and offer our products at a range of suggested retail price
poinis: $99.95 10 $374.99 for our footwear products. $29.95 10 $49.95 for wops and bottoms in our appare] lines and
549,95 1o 522999 for our basic and technical owterwear,

The Rocky brand originally targeted outdoor enthusiasts, particularly hunters, and has since become the market
leader in the hunting boot category, In 2002, we also extended into huming apparel, including jackets. panis, gloves
and caps. Our Rocky products for hunters and other outdoor enthusiasts are designed for specific weather conditions
and the diverse terrains of Nonh America. These prodiscts incorporate a range of technical features and designs
such as Gore-Tex waterproof breathable fabric, 3M Thinsulate insulation, nylon Cordura fabric and camouflaged
uppers featuring either Mossy Oak or Realiree patterns, Rugged outsoles made by industry beaders like Vibram are
sometimes used in conjunction with our proprietary design features like the *Rocky Ride Comfort System” to make
ihe products durable and easy 1o wear,

We also produce Rocky duty and commercial military footwear targting law enforcement professionals, milinary,
security workers and postal service employees, and we believe we have established a leading market share position

in this category.

In 2002, we introduced Bocky work footwear designed for varving weather conditions or difficult terrain,
particularly for people who make their living outdoors such as those in lumber or forestry occupations. These
products typically include many of the proprictary features and technologies that we incorporate in our unting and
outdoor products. Similar to our strategy for the outdoor market, we introduced rugged work apparel in 2004, such

as ranch jackets and carpentar jeans,

We have also introduced western influenced work boots for farmers and ranchers. Most of these products are
waterproof, insulated and utilize our proprietary comfort systems. We also recently introduced some men’s and
women's casual western footwear for consumers enamored with western Influenced fashion.

Ceargla Bool

Georgla Boot was launched in 1937 and is our moderately priced, high quality line of work footwear. Georgla Boot

footwear is sold at suggested retail price points ranging from $79.95 1o $314.99. This line of products primarily
targets construction workers and those who work in industrial planis where special safety features are required for

hazardous work environments. Many of our boots incorporate steel 1oes or metatarsal guards (o prodect weaners'
feet from heavy objects and non-slip ouisoles to prevent slip related injuries in ihe work place, All of our boots anre
designed to help prevent injury and subsequent work loss and are designed according (o standards determined by the
Occupational Safety & Health Adminksiratbon or other standards required by employers,

In addition. we market a line of Georgia Boot footwear to brand loyal consumers for hunting and other outdoor
activities. These products are primarily all leather boots distributed in the western and southwestern states where
hunters do not require camouflaged boots or other technical features incorporated in our Rocky footwear,

We believe the Georgla Boot brand can be extended into moderately priced duty footwear as well as outdoor and
wark apparel.

Durango

Durango is our moderately priced, high quality line of western footwear. Launched in 1965, the brand has
developed broad appeal and eamed a reputation for authenticity and quality in the western footwear market. Our
current line of products is offered at suggested retail price points ranging from $79.95 10 $169.99, and we market
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products designed for both work and casual wear. Our Durango line of products primarily targets farm and ranch
workers who live in the heartland where western influenced footwear and apparel is womn for work and casual wear
and, 1o a lesser extent, this line appeals w urban consumers enamared with western influenced fashion. Many of our
western boots marketed 1o farm and ranch workers are designed to be durable, including special “bam yard acid
resistant” beathers o maintain integrity of the uppers, and incosporate our proprietary ~Comfon Core” system 1o
increase ease of wear and reduce foot fatigue. Other products in the Durango line that target casual and fashion
oriented consumers have colorful leather uppers and shafis with omate stitch patterns and ane offered for men,
wormen and children.

Lehigh

The Lehigh brand was launched in 1922 and is our moderately priced, high quality line of safety shoes sold at
sugpestid retail price points ranging from $29.95 10 $191.99. Our current line of products s designed o mest
ocoupational safety footwear needs. Most of this footwear incorporates steel toes (o protect workers and often
incorporates other safety features such as metatarsal guards or non-slip outsoles, Additonally, cerain models
incorporate durability features 1o combat abrasive surfaces or caustic substances ofien found in some work places.

With the recent shift in manufacturing jobs to service jobs in the U5., Lehigh began marketing products for the
hospitality industry. These products have non-slip outsoles designed 1o reduce slips. trips and Falls in kitchen
environments where floors are often tiled and greasy. Price points for this kind of footwear range from $29.95 1o
§72.99.

Michelin

Michelin is a premier prioe point line of work footwear targeting specific indusirial professions, primarily indoos
professions. The license to design, develop and manufacture footwear under the Michelin name was secured in
2006, Sugpested redail prices for the Michelin brand are from $29.95 (o $161.99, The license agreement for the
Michelin brand expires on December 31, 2012. We do not intend to renew this agreement.

Massy Oak

Mossy Oak is high quality, value priced line of casual and hunting footwear. The license to design, develop and

manufacture footwear under the Mossy Oak name was secured in 2008, Suggested retail prices for the Massy Oak
Brand are from $39.95 10 $79.95 for casual footwear and $49.95 10 $114.99 for hunting footwear,

Sales and Distribution

Owr products are distributed through three distinet business segments: wholesale, retail and military. You can find
maore Information regarding our three business segments in Node 14 o our consolidated financial statements,

Whalesale

In the L5, we distribute Rocky, Ceorgla Boot, Durango, Michelin, and Mossy Cak prodects through a wide range
of wholesale distribution channels. As of December 31, 2011, our products were offered for sale at over 10,000
redall locations in the U5, and Canada.

We sell our products 1o wholesale accoumts in the ULS, primarily through a dedicated in-house sales team who carry
our branded products exclusively, as well as independent sales representativies who carry our branded products and
other non-competing products. Our sales force for Rocky |s onganized around major accounts, including Bass Pro
Shops, Cabela’s, Dick’s Sporting Goods and Gander Mountain, and around our target markets: outdoor, work, duty,
commerckal military and western, For our Geongla Boot and Durango brands, our sales emplovees are organized
around each brand and target a broad range of distribution channels. All of our sales people actively call on their
refall customer base to educate them on the quality, comfort, technical features and breadth of our product lines and
to ensure that our products are displayed effectively at retail locations.

Our wholesale distribution channels vary by market:

*  Owr ouldoor products are sold primarily through sporting goods stares, outdoor specialty stores, catalogs and
miass merchants.



= Our work-related products are sold primarily through retadl uniform stores, catalogs, Farm store chaings,
specialty safety stores, independent shoe stores and hardware stores.

*  Dwr duty products are sold primarily through uniform stores and catalog specialists.
= Our commercial military prodiscts are sold primarily through base exchanges such as AAFES and consumer
websites.

*  Dwr western products are sold through western stores, work specialty stores, specialty farm and ranch stores
and more recently, fashion oriented footwear retailers.

Retaif

We market products directly 1o consumers through theee retail strategies under the Lehigh retadl brand: consurmes
and business websites, mobile and retail storesand our outlet siore.

Wedsites

We sell our product lines on our websites at www. rockyboots.com, waww,georgizboot. com.

www. fediighoutfiners.con, wew. leliiphsaferyshioes. com, wiw.sliperios.comm, wew buiitbotwear. con and
www.durangoboor.com. We believe that our internet presence allows us to showcase the breadth and depth of our
product lines in each of our target markets and enables us o educate our consumers about the unique technical
features of our products.  We also sell directly to our business customers directly through our Custom Fit websites
that are tailored o the specific needs of our customers. Our customer's employvess order directly through their
employer's established Custom Fit website and the footwear is delivered directly to the consumer via a common
Freigh carrier.

Mabile and Retail Stores

Lehigh markeis branded work footwear ithrough mobile stones 1o industrial and hospitality related corposale
customers across the ULS. We work closely with our customers to select footwear products best suited for the
specific safery needs of their work site amd that meet the standards determined by the Ocoupational Safety & Health
Administration or other standards required by our customers. Our customers include large, national companies such

as IM. Abbatt Laboratories, Aleaa, Carnival Cruise Lines, Faderal Express, IBM and Teswas Instruments,

Our Lehigh mobile storesare stocked with work footwear, as established by the specific needs of our customers, and
typically include our owned brands augmented by branded work footwear from third parties including Dunham and
Timberland Pro. Prior to a scheduled site vislt, Lehlgh sales managers consult with our corporate customers to
ensuré that our trucks are appropriately stocked for their specific needs. Our trucks then perform a site visit where
customer employees select work related footwear and apparel, Our corporate customers generally purchase footwear
or provide payroll deduction plans for footwear purchases by their employees. We believe that our ability to service
work sites across the U5, allows us to effectively compete for large, national customers who have employees
located throughout the LS.

Lehigh continues 1o focus on converting our customers from delivery via our mobile stores to purchasing via our
Custom Fit shies and delivery direct. This is our lowesi cost safely shoe solution for our customsers and our most
profitable. As pant of this strategy. we continue to remove mobile trucks and stores as we convert this business.

Curtler Store

We operate the Rocky outlet store in Nelsonville, Ohio. Our outlet store primarily sells first quality or discontinued
products. in additkon o a limbted amount of factory damaged goods. Related products from other manufaciurers are
also sold in the store. Our outlet store allows us to showcase the breadth of our product lines as well as to cost-
effectively sell slow-moving inventory. Our outlet store also provides an opportunity to interact with consumers o
better understand their nseds.

Milieary

While we are focused on continuing to build our wholesale and retail business, we also actively bid on foatwear
contracts with the U5, military, which requires products to be made in the U5, Our manufacturing facilities in
Puerto Rico, a ULS. wrritory. allow us 1o competitively bid for such contracts. In July 2009, we were awarded a
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$29.0 million blanket purchase onder from the GSA to produce footwear for the ULS. Military, While ihere is
approximately §10 million remaining under this purchase order, we do not currently expect to make any 5Ig;|1lﬂ|;mlt
additional shipments. We currently do nol expect a renewal of this contract,

All of our foorwear for the U5, military is currently branded Rocky. We believe that many U5, service men and
women are active outdoor enthusiasts and may be employed in many of the work and duty markets that we target
with our brands. As a resull, we believe our sales to the U5, military serve as an opportunity (o reach our tanget

demographic with high quality branded products.

Marketing and Advertising

We believe that our brands have a reputation for high quality, comfort, functionality and durability built through
their long history in the markets they serve. To further increase the strength and awareness of our brands, we have

developed comprehensive marketing and advertising programs to gain national exposure and expand brand
awareness for each of our bramds in their target markels.

We utilize a number of marketing initiatives. With a goal of leveraging our brand within the markets where our
dealers and consumers work, live and play, we utilize sponsorships, media owtlets and grassroots campaigns to
expose Rocky, Georgia Boot and Durango (o mose customers. Rocky will increase its brand strengih across all
divisions through sponsorships with Archer’s Choice and The Choice with Ralph and Vicki Canciarulo on the
Outdoor Channel and former professional BASS fisherman Hank Parker on HP-30 which airs on NBC Sparts,
Pursuit Channel, and Wild TV in the outdoor market. Country musician, military veteran and outdoor enthusiast
Craig Morgan will serve a5 an advocate for all Rocky products, while KalitabMotorSports NHEA racing team will
give the brand exceptional recognition in the work, western and duty markets. Celebrating its 75th anniversary,
Geongia Boot is sponsoring the Clint Bowyer team in the Lucas Oil series of racing which is televised on SPEED.
MBC Sports, and CBS. To acknowledge the anniversary, we will be giving back to communities in which our
consumers reside by supporting underfunded trade schools and 4-H programs. Durango continues to reach targel
western and fashion consumers through music, partnering with the Country Music Association (CMA) and the CMA
Music Festival, CMA Awards, and LiveMNation musical events throughout the United States, The above sponsorship
properties combined with significant in-store point of purchase efforts, print advertising. and online/social
campaigns will enhance brand awareness across all of our brands and categories.

We also support independent dealers by listing their locations in our national print advertisements. In addition o
our national advertising campaign. we have developed atractive merchandising displays and store-in-store conoept
fcturing that are available to our retailers who purchase the breadth of our product lines, We also attend numerous
radeshows, including the Denver International Western Retailer Market and the Shooting, Hunting, Outdoor
Exposition. Tradeshows allow us to showcase our entire product lve 1o retall buyers and have historically been an
important source of new accounts.

Product Design and Development

We believe that product innovation is a key competitive advantage for us in each of our markets. Our goal in
produci design and development Is to continue to create and Introduce new and Innovative footwear and apparel
products that combine our standards of quality, functionality and comfort and that meet the changing needs of our
retallers and consumers. Our product design and development process is hghly collaborative and is tvpically
initiated both internally by our development stafl and externally by our retailers and suppliers, whose employees are
generally active users of our products and understand the needs of our consumers, Chur product design and
development personnel, marketing personnel and sales representatives work closely together to identify
opportunities for new sivles, camouflage patiems. deslgn Improvements and newer, more advanced materials. We
have a dedicated group of product design and development professionals, some of whom are well recognized experts
Im the footwear and appare] indusiries, who continually intersct with consumers to better understand thedr needs and
are committed to ensuring our products reflect the most advanced designs, features and materials available in the
markeiplace,

Manufaciuring and Sourcing

We manufacture footwear in facilities that we operate in the Dominican Republic and Puerto Rico, and source
footwear, apparel and acoessories from third-party facilities, primarily in China. We do not have long-term
contracts with any of our third-party manufacturers, The products purchased from General Shoes US Corporation
and its subsidiaries, one of our third-party manufacturers in China with whom we have had a relationship for over 20
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yiears amnd which has historically accounted for a significant portion of our manufacturing. represented approximately
16% of our net sales in 2011. We believe that operating our own facilities significantly improves our knowledge of
ihe entire raw material sourcing and manulfacturing process enabling us 1o mone efliciently source finished poods
from third parties that are of the highest quality and at the lowest cost available. In addition, our Puerto Rican
Facilities allow us 1o produce footwear for the 1.5, military and other commercial businesses that require production
by a U.S. manufacturer. Sourcing products from offshore third-party facilities generally enables us to lower our
costs per undl while maintaining high product quality and it limits the capital investiment required to establish and
maintain company operated manufacturing facilities. Because quality is an important part of our value proposition to
our retailers and comsumers, we source products from manufacturers who have demonstrated the inent and ability 1o
maintain the high quality that has become associated with our brands.

Quality control is stressed at every stage of the manufacturing process and is monitored by trained quality assurance
personnel a1 each of our manufacturing facilities, incleding our third-party factories. In addition, we utilize a team
of procurement, quality control and logistics emplovees in our China office to visit factories to conduct quality
control reviews of raw materials, work in process inventory and finished goods. We also utilize quality control
personnel at our finished goods distribution facilities to conduct quality control testing on incoming sourced finished
goods and raw materials and inspect random samples from our finished goods invemory Trom each of our
manufacturing facilities 1o ensure that all items meet our high quality standards.

Foreign Operations and Sales Outside of the United States

Owr products are primarily distributed in the United States, Canada, South America, Europe and Asia. We ship our
products from our linished goods distribution facilities located in Logan, Ohio and Waterloo, Omario, Canada,
Certain of our retailers receive shipments directly from our manufacturing sources, including all of our US. military
sales, which ane shipped directly from our manufacturing facilities in Puerto Bico. Net sales o foreign countries,
primarily Canada, represented approximately 4.1% of net sales in 2011, 3.1% of net sales in 2010 and 2.4% of net
sabes in 2009,

As previously mentioned, we maintain manufaciuring facilities that we operate in the Dominican Republic and
Puerto Rico. In addition, we maintain a sales office and distribution facility in Canada and an office in China to
Support our comract manufacturers.

The nat baok value of fixed assets located outside of the LS, totaled 4.8 million at Deceniber 31, 2011, 539
million & December 31, 2000 and $3.3 million at December 31, S009,

Suppliers

We purchase raw materials from sources worldwide. We do not have any long-term supply contracts for the
purchase of our raw materials, except for limbied Manket orders on leather o protect wholesale selling prices for an
extended period of time. The principal raw materials used in the production of our products, in terms of dollar
value, are leather, Gore-Tex waterproof breathable fabric, Cordura nylon fabric and soling materials. 'We believe
these materials will continue to be available from our current suppliers. However, in the event these materials are
not avatlable from our current suppliers. we believe these products, or similar producis. would be avallable from
alternative sources.

Seasonality and Weather

Historically, we have experienced significant seasanal fluctuations in our business because we derive a significant
portlon of our revenues from sales of our swidoor products, Many of our owldoor products are used by consumers in
cold or wet weather. As a result. a majority of orders for these products are placed by our retailers in January
ihrough April for delivery in July through October, In order to meet demand, we must manufacture and source
outdoor footwear year round to be in a position to ship advance orders for these products during the last two quarters
of each year, Accordingly. average inventory levels have been highest during the second and third quarters of each
year and sales have been highest in the last two quarters of each year. In addition, mild or dry weather conditions
historically have had a material adverse effect on sales of our outdoor products, particularly if they occurred in broad
peographical areas during late fall or early winter. Since 2005, we have experienced and we expect that we will
continue (o experience less seasonality and that our business will be subject to reduced weather risk because we now
derive a higher proportion of our sales from work-related footwear products. Generally, work, duty and western
footwear is sold vear round and Is not subject to the same level of seasonality or varlation in weather as our outdoor
product lines. However, because of seasonal fluctuations and variations in weather conditions from year 1o year,
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ihere is no assurance that the resalis for any particular interim period will be indicative of results for the full year or
for future interim periods.

Backlog

At December 31, 2011, our backlog was $10.5 million compared to $11.3 million at December 31, 2010. Because a
subsiantial portion of our orders are placed by our retailers in Jamsary through April Tor delivery in July through
October, our hacklog is lowest during the October through December period and peaks during the April through
June period. Factors other than seasonality could have a significant impact on our backlog and, therefore, our
backlog at any one point in time may not be indicative of future results. Generally, orders may be canceled by
retailers prior to shipment withouwt penaliy.

Patents, Trademarks and Trade Names

We own mumerous design and utility patents for footwear, footwear components (3uch as insoles and owisoles) and
outdoor apparel in the U.5. and in foreign countries including Canada, Mexico, China and Taiwan. We own U.5.
and certain foreign registrations for the irademarks wsed in our business, incheding our marks Rocky, Georgia Bool,
Durango and Lehigh. In addition, we license trademarks, including Gore-Tex, Mossy Oak and Michelin, in order 1o
markel our products.

Our license with W, L, Gore & Associales, [nc, permiis us jo use the Goge-Tex and related marks on products and
styles that have been approved in advance by Gore. The license agreement may be terminated by either party upon
advance wrilten notice i the other pary by October 1 for termination effective December 31 of thal same year,

Our license with Mossy Oak permits us 10 use certain marks and patterns owned by Mossy Oak on our products,
The initial term of the license agreement was for two years ending in May 2011, and the term automatically renews
for one-year periods. The license agreement may be terminated by efither pany upon ninety days written notice (o
the other party.

Owr license with Gear 5ix Technologies LLC permits us to use the Michelin and related marks on our products. The
license agreement with Gear Skx will terminate on December 31, 20012, We do not intend to renew this agreement,

In the LS., our patents are generally in effect for up 1o 20 years [rom the date of the filing of the patent application.
Our trademarks are generally valid as long as they are in use and their registrations are properly maintained and have
not been found to become generic. Trademarks registered outside of the US. generally have a duration of 10 years
depending on the jurisdiction and are also generally subject 1o an indefinite number of renewals for a like period

upon appropriate applicatbon.

While we have an active program to protect our intellectual property by filing for patents and trademarks, we do not
believe that our overall business is materially dependent on any individual patent or trademark. ¥We are nol aware of
any Infringement of our intellectual property rights or that we are infringing any intellectual property rights owned
by third parties. Moreover. we are nol aware of any material conflicts conoerning our trademarks or our use of
irademarks owned by others,

Competition

We operate in a very competitive environment. Product function, design, comfort, quality, technological and
material improvements, brand awareness, meliness of product delivery and pricing are all important elements of
competition in the markets for our products. We believe that the strength of our brands, the quality of our products
and our long-term relationships with a broad range of retailers allows us o compete effectively in the footwear and
apparel markets that we serve. However, we compete with footwear and appare] companies that have greater
financial, marketing. distribution and manufacturing resources than we do. In addition. many of these competitors
have strong brand name recognition in the markets they serve.

The footwear and apparel industry is also subject to rapid changes in consumer preferences. Some of our product
lines are susceptible 1o changes in both technical innovation and fashion trends. Therefore, the success of these
producis and styles are more dependent on our ability to anticipate and respond to changing product, material and
design innovations as well as fashion trends and consumer demands in a timely manner, Cur inability or failure (o
do 50 could adversely affect consumer acceptance of these product lines and styles and could have a material
adverse effect on our business, Mnancial condition and resulis of operations.

10



Employees

At December 31, 2001, we had approximately 2.225employees of which approximately 2,118 are full time
employess. Approsimately 1,781 of our employvess work in our manufacturing facilities in the Dominican Bepublic
and Puerto Rico. None of our employees are represented by a union. ‘We believe our relations with our employees

ane good.
Available Information

We make available free of charge on our corporate website, wisworockylranas. covm, our annual report on Form 10-
K. quarterly reports on Form 10-0), current reports on Form 8-K and, if applicable, amendments to those reports
Filed or furnished pursuamn o Section 13(a) or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended, as soon as
reasonably practicable after such reports are electronically filed with or furnished to the Securities and Exchange
Commission.

ITEM 1A. RISK FACTORS.
Business Risks

Our implementation of a mew Enterprise Resource Planning (©ERP®) systen has the povential for business
Iverruption and associated adverse impact o operating results as well as internal controls,

During 2011, we began a project to implement a new ERF system to replace our current system. Extensive planning
las been underway to suppor the elfective implementation of the new ERP system, which is expected to be

completed in the third quarter of 2012; however, such implementation carries certain risks, incleding potential for
business interruption with the associated adverse impact on operating income, In addition, internal controls that ane
madified or redesigned to support the new ERP system implemented may result in deficiencies in the future that
could constilute significant deficiencies, or in i(he aggregate. 3 malerial weakness in imernal control over financial

reporting.

Expanding our brands into new footwear and apparel markets may be difficult and expensive, and if we are
urkable to successfully continue such expantion, our brands may be adversely affected, and we may nol achisve
outr planned sales growth.

Owr growth strategy is founded substantially on the expansion of our brands into new footwear and apparel markets.
Mew products that we introduce may not be successful with consumers or one or more of our brands may fall out of
favor with consumers. If we are unable to anticipate, identify or react appropriately to changes in consumier
preferences, we may not grow as fast as we plan o grow or our sales may decline, and our brand Image and

operating performance may suffer.

Furthermore, achieving market acceptance for new products will likely require us to exert substantial product
development and marketing efforis, which could resuli in a material increase in our selling. general and
administrative, or SCEA, expenses, and there can be no assurance that we will have the resources necessary 1o
unddertake such efforts. Material increases inour SGE&A expenses could adversely impact our resulis of operations
and cash Mows.

We may also encounter difficulties in producing new products that we did not anticipate during the development
stage. Our development schedules for new products are difficult to predict and are subject 1o change as a result of
shifting priorities in response to consumer preferences and competing products. [F we are nod able to efficiently
manufacture newly-developed producis In quantities sufficient o support retail distribution, we may ot be able o
recoup our investment in the development of new products. Failure to gain market acceptance for new products that
we [ntroduce could impede our growth, reduce our profits, adversely affect the image of our brands, erode our
competitive position and result in long term harm to our business.

A majority of our products are produced owutside the U.S. where we are subject to the risks of international
CORNIETEE,

A majority of our products are produced in the Dominlcan Republic and China, Therefore, our business Is subject to
the following risks of doing business offshore:

11



* the imposition of additional United States legislation and regulations relating 1o Imports, including quotas,
duties, 1axes o other charges or restrictions;

=  foreign governmental regulation and taxation;

= fluctuations in foreign exchange rates:

#  changes in economic conditions:;

= transporiation conditions and costs in the Pacific and Caribbean;

*  changes in the political siability of these countries: and

= changes in relsionships between the United States and these coumiries,

If any of these factors were io render the conduct of business in these countries undesirable or impracticable, we
would have 1o manufacture or source our products elsewhere. There can be no assurance that additional sources or
products would be svailable 1o us o, il available, that these sources could be relied on 1o provide prodect an terms
favorable to us. The ocourrence of any of these developments would have a material adverse effect on our business,
financial condition, results of operations and cash Nows.

O swceess depends on our albility to amicipate consumer fremds.

Demand for our products may be adversely afTfected by changing consumer rends. Our future success will depend
upon our ability to anticipate and respond to changing consumer preferences and technical design or material
developments in a timely manner. The failure o adequately anticipate or respond to these changes could have a
material adverse effect on our business, financial condition, results of operations and cash flows.

Loss of services of our key personnel could adversely affect our business.

The development of our business has been, and will continue to be, highly dependent upon David Sharp, President
and Chief Executive Officer, and James E. MeDonald, Executive Vice President, Chief Finaneial Officer and
Treasurer. Messrs. Sharp and MeDonald each have an at-will employment agreement with us. Each employment
agreement provides that in the event of termination of employment, without cause, the terminated executive will
receive a severance benefit. In the event of termination for any reason, the terminated executive may not compete
with us for a period of one vear. Except for Mike Brooks, Chairman of the Board, none of our other executive
officers and key employees has an employment agreement with our company. The loss of the services of any of
ithese officers could have a material adverse effect on our buskeess, financlal condition. resulis of operations and
cash fMows.

We depend on a limited number of suppliers for key production materials, and any disruption in the supply of
such materials could interrupd product mamulaciuring and fncrease product cosis.

We purchase raw materials from a mumber of domestic and forelgn sources, We do not have any lomg-term supply
contracts for the purchase of our raw materials, except for limited blanket orders on leather. The principal raw
materials used in the production of cur footwear, in terms of dollar value, are leather, Gore-Tex waterproal
breathable fabric, Cordura nylon fabric and soling materials. Availability or change in the prices of our raw
materials could have a material adverse effect on our business, financial condition, results of operatbons and cash
Mows.

We currently have a licensing agreement for the use of Gore- Tex waterproof breathable fabric, and any
fermination of this Neensing agreement could impact our sales of walerproof produces,

We are currently one of the largest customers of Gore-Tex waterproof breathable fabric for use in footwear, Our
licensing agreement with W.L. Gore & Associates, [nc. may be terminated by either party upon advance written
notice to the other party by October 1 for termination effective December 31 of that same year, Although other
waterproofing techniques and materials are available, we place a high value on our Gore-Tex waterproafl breathable
fabric license because Gore-Tex has high brand name recognithon with our customers, The loss of our license 1o use
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Core-Tex waterprool breathable fabric could have a material adverse ¢ffect on our competitive position, which
could have a material adverse effect on our business, financial condition, results of operations and cash flows.

Our outdoor products are seasonal.

We have historically experienced significant seasonal fluctuations in our business because we derive a significant
portion of our revenues from sales of our svidoor products, Many of our cuidoor products are used by consumers in
cold or wet weather. As a result, a majority of orders for these products are placed by our retailers in January
ihrough April for delivery in July through October, In order o meel demand, we rust manufacture and sounce
outdoor footwear year round to be in a position 1o ship advance orders for these products during the last two quarters
of each year. Accordingly, average imventory levels have been highest during the second and third quaniers of each
year and sales have been highest in the last two quarters of each year. There is no assurance that we will have either
sufficient inventory 1o satisly demand in any particular quarer or have sullicient demand 1o sell substantially all of
our inventory without significant markdowns.

Chur outdoor products are sensitive to weather conditfons.

Historically, our outdoor products have been used primarily in cold or wet weather. Mild or dry weather has in the
past and may in the future have a material adverse effect on sales of our products, particularly if mild or dry weather
conditions ocour in broad geographical areas during late fall or early winter. Also, due to variations in weather
conditions from year (o year, resulis for any single quarter or vear may nod be indicative of results for any futune

period.

Our business could suffer if our third parly manefacturers violaie Labor laws or fail to conform to generally
accephed ethical standards.

We require our third-party manulaciurers to meet our standards Tor working conditions and other matiers before we
are willing to place business with them. As a result, we may not always obtain the bowest cost production.
Muoreovier, wie do not control our thind-party manufaciuners or their respective labor practices. I one of our thind-
party manufacturers violates generally accepted labor standards by, for example, using forced or indentured labor or
child labor, Failing 1o pay compensation in accordance with local kaw. failing to operate its factories in compliance
with local safety regulations or diverging from other labor practices generally accepted as ethical, we likely would
cease dealing with that manufacturer, and we could suffer an inerraption in our product supply. In addition, such a
manufacturer’s actions could result in negative publicity and may damage our reputation and the value of our brand
and discourage retall customers and consumers from buying our products,

The growth of our business will be dependent upon the availability of adequate capiial,

The growth of our business. will depend on the availability of adequate caphtal, which In turn will depend in large
part on cash flow generated by our business and the availability of equity and debt financing. We cannot assure you
ihat our operatbons will generate positive cash Now or that we will be able o obtain equity or deld financing on
acceptable terms or at all. Our revolving credit facility contains provisions that restrict our ability to incur additional
Indebtedness or make substantlal asset sales that might otherwise be used to finance our expansion. Securlty
inerests in substantially all of our assets, which may further limit our access (o certain capital markets or lending
sources, secure our ohligations under our revolving credit facility, Moreover, the acteal availability of funds under
our revolving credit facility is limited 1o specified percentages of our eligible inventory and accounts receivable.
Accordingly, opportunities for increasing our cash on hand through sales of inventory would be partially offset by
reduced availability under our revolving credit facility. As a result, we cannot assure you that we will be able 1o
finance our current expansion plans.

We most comply witl the resteiciive coversanis contained in owr revelvimg credir Gaeilify.

Our credit facillty requires us to comply with certaln financial restrictive covenanis that impose restrictions on our

tions. including our ability to incur additional indebtedness, make investments of other restricted payments,
sell or otherwise dispose of assets and engage in other activities. Any failure by us 1o comply with the restrictive
covenants could result in an event of default under those borrowing arrangements, in which case the lenders could
elect to declare all amounts owtstanding there under to be due and payable, which could have a material adverse
effect on our financial condition. This restrictive covenant is only in effect upon a triggering event laking place (as
defined in the credit facility agreement). At December 31, 2011, there was no triggering event and the covenant was
moit i effiect.
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We face intense competition, including competition from companies with significandly greater resources than
oirs, and i we are unable fo compete effectively with these comparties, our marker share may decline and our

Business cowld be harmed.

The footwear and apparel industries are intensely competitive, and we expect competition to increase in the future.
A number of our competitors have significantly greater financial, technological. engineering, manufacturing.
marketing and distribution resources than we do, as well as greater brand awareness in the footwear market. Our
ability 1o succesd depends on our ability (o remain competitive with respect (o the quality, design, price and timely
delivery of products. Competition could materially adversely affect our business, financial condition, results of
operations and cash Nows.

We currently manulaciure a portion of our products and we may mod be able io do o in the future af costs that
are compeiitive with those of competitors who source their goods.

We currently plan to retain our internal manufacturing capability in order to continue benefiting from expertise we
have gained with respect io footwear manufaciuring methods conducted atl our manufacturing facilities, We
continue to evaluate our manufacturing facilities and third-party manufacturing alternatives in order 1o determine the
appropriate size and scope of our manulfacturing facilities. There can be no assurance at the costs of prodects that
continue (o be manufactured by us can remain competitive with products sourced from third parties.

We rely on distribution centers in Logan, Ohloand Waterloo, Ontarfo. Canada, and if there is a natural disaster
o other serious disrupifon af any of these facilities, we may be urrable o defiver merchandize effectively o our
reiailers.

We rely on distribution centers located in Logan, Ohio and Waterloo, Ontario, Canada. Any natural disaster or other
serious disruption al any of these facilities due to Tire, tomado, Mood, terrarist atlack or any other cause could
damage a portion of our inventory or impair our ability to use our distribution center as a docking location for
merchandise. Either of these oocurrences could impair our ability o adequately supply our retailers and harm our

operating resulis.
We are subject fo certain environmental and other regulations.

Some of our operations use substances regulated under various federal, state. local and international environmental
and pollution laws, Including those relating to the storage, use, discharge, disposal and labeling of, and human
exposure (o, hazardous and toxic materials. Compliance with current or future environmental laws and regulations
could restrict our ability to expand our facilities or require us o acquire additional expensive equipment, modify our
manufacturing processes or incur other significant expenses. In addition, we could incur eosts, fines and civil or
criminal sanctions, third-party propenty damage or personal injury clalms or could be required to incur substaniial
investigation or remediation costs, il we were 1o violate or become liable under any environmental laws. Liability
under environmental laws can be joint and several and without regard (o comparative fauli. There can be no
assurance that violations of environmental laws or regulations have not occurred in the past and will not ocour in the
future as a resulf of our inability to obdaln permdis, human emror, equipment fallure or other causes, and any such
violations could harm our business, Minancial condition, results of operations and cash Nows,

If our efforts to establish and protect our trademarks, patenis and other intellectual property are unsuccessful,
the value of our bramds could suffer.

We regard cenain of our footwear designs as proprietary and rely on patents to protect those designs, We belleve
that the ownership of patents is a significant factor in our business. Existing intellectual property laws afford only
limited protection of our proprietary rights, and it may be possible for unauthorized third parties oo copy certain of
our footwear designs or to reverse engineer or otherwise obtain and use information that we regard as proprietary. If
our patents are found to be invalid, however, 1o the extent ithey have served, or would in the fuiure serve, as a barrler
5 eniry b our competitons, such invalidity could have a material adverse effect on our business, financial condition,
results of operations and cash flows.

We own LS. registratbons for a number of our trademarks, trade names and designs, including such marks as
Rocky, Georgia Boot, Durango and Lehigh. Additional trademarks. trade names and designs ane the subject of
pending federal applications for registration. We also use and have common law rights in cenain trademarks. Over
time, we have increased distribution of our goods in several foreign countries. Accordingly, we have applied for
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irademark registrations in a number of these countries. We intend to enforee our rademarks and trade names
against unauthorized use by third parties,

Our suceess depends on our ability to forecast sales.

Our investments in infrastructure and product inventory are based on sales forecasts and are necessarily made in
advance of aciual sales. The markets in which we do business are highly competitive, and our business is affected
by a variety of factors, including brand awareness, changing consumer preferences, product innovations,
susceplibiliny oo fashion rends, retail market conditions, weather conditions and economic and other faciors, One of
our principal challenges is 1o improve our ability to predict these factors, in order 1o enable us to better match
production with demand. In addition, our growth over the yvears has created the need (o increase the investment in
infrastructure and product inventory and to enhance our systems. To the extent sales forecasts are not achieved,

costs associated with the infrastructure and carrving costs of product inventory would represent a higher percentage
of revenue, which would adversely affect our business, financial condition, results of operations and cash flows.

Risks Related to Our Industry
Because the footwear market is sensitive fo decreased consumer spending and slow economic cycles, if general
eoonontic conditions deferiorate, many of our customers may signilicamily redoece their purchases from us or may
nat be able to pay for our products i a timely manner,
The footwear industry has been subject to cyclical variation and decline in performance when consumer spending
decreases or sofiness appears in the retail market. Many faciors affect the level of consumer spending in the
footwear industry, including:

*  peneral business conditions;

= interest rates;

*  the availability of consumer crexdit;

«  weather:

*  increases in prices of nondiscretionary goods:

»  laxation; and

= consumer confidence in future sconomic conditions.
Consumer purchases of discretionary items, including our products, may decline during recessionary periods and
also may decline at other times when disposable income is lower, A downturn in reglonal economies where we sell
products also reduces sales.

The continued shift in the marketplace from traditional independent retailers o large discount mass
merciandisers may resall i decreased mangins.

A continued shifi in the marketplace from traditional independent retallers to large discount mass merchandisers has
increased the pressure on many footwear manufacturers to sell products 1o these mass merchandisers at less
favorable margins. Because of competition from large discount mass merchandisers, a number of our small retailing
customers have gone out of business, and in the future more of these customers may go out of business, which could
have a material adverse effect on our business, financial condition, resulis of operations and cash flows,

ITEM 1B. UNRESOLVED STAFF COMMENTS.

MName.
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ITEM 2. PROPERTIES.

We owm, subject 1o a monigage, our 25,000 square fool executive ofTices that are located in Nelsoaville, Ohio, which
are utilized by all segments. We also own, subject 1o a mortgage, our 192,000 square foot finished goods
distribution Facility in Logan, Ohio, which is utilized by our wholesale and retail segments. We also own, subject 1o
a mortgage, our 41,000 square foot cutlet store and a 5,500 square foot executive office building located in
Melsonville, Ohio, a portion of which s wiilized by our retail segment. In Waterloo, Cntario, we lease a 30,300
sqquare foot distribution facility under a lease expiring in 2012 which is utilized by our wholesale segment. We lease
iwo manufaciuring facilities in Pueno Rico consisting of 44978 square feet and 39,581 square lfeet which ane
utilized by the wholesale and military segments. These leases expire in 2019, In the Dominican Republic, we lease
five stand-alone manufacturing facilities as Tollows:

Square Lease
Footage Expiration
Bl.BTZ 2014
24.053 2003
30813 2014
28,920 2015
i3.018 2006
ITEM 3. LEGAL PROCEEDINGS.

We are, from time to time, a party to litigation which arises in the normal course of our business. Although the
ultimate resolution of pending proceedings cannot be determined, in the opinion of management. the resolution of
these proceedings in the aggregate will not have a material adverse effect on our financial position, results of
operations., or liquidity.

ITEM 4. MINE SAFETY DISCLOSURES,
Mot applicable.
FARTII
ITEM 5, MARKET FOR REGISTRANT S COMMON EQUITY, RELATED STOCKHOLDER

MATTERS AND ISSUER PURCHASES OF EQUITY SECURITIES.
Market Information
Our common stock trades on the NASDAD National Market under the symbal "RCKY." The following table sets

forth the range of high and low sales prices for our common siock for the periods indicated, as reported by the
NASDAQ National Market:

Quarter Ended High Low

T 0 1 £ 0497 £ 716
T TR 1 S10.66 £ 6.15
Septermber 30, 2000, ..o s e e £ BAS £ 568
Deoember 31, 20000 . ooeoe et et e e s $10.44 § 7.25
T 0 R L1647 10,07
Jue 30, 200, ettt e s $16.30 $10.78
Sepiember 30, 2001, v s e e e £13.46 £ 956
Deremiber 31, 2000 ittt ie et a it e et e et i S12.00 £ BT5

On February 24, 2012, the lasi reporied sales price of our common siock on the NASDAC National Market was
$11.86 per share. As of February 24, 2012, there were 86 shareholders of record of our common stock.
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We presently intend to retain our eamings to finance the growth and development of our business and do not
anticipate paying any cash dividends in the foreseeable future, Futune dividend policy will depend upon our
earnings and financial condition, our need for funds and other factors. Presently, our credit facility restricts the
payment of dividends on our common stock. No cash dividends were paid during 200 1. 2000 or 200G,

PERFORMANCE GRAPH
The following performance graph compares our performance of the Company with the NASDAQ Stock
Market (U.5) Index amd the Standard & Poor’s Footwear Index, which is a published indusiry index. The

comparison of the cumulative total return to shareholders for each of the periods assumes that $100 was invested on

December 31, 2006, in our common stock, and in the NASDACQ Siock Market (ULS.) Index and the Standand &
Poor's Footwear [ndex and that all dividends were reinvested.

COMPARISON OF 5 YEAR CUMULATIVE TOTAL RETURN®
Among Rocky Brands, inc., the NASDAC Composite Index, and the S&P Footwear Index

$50 -

“ 4
1206 1207 1208 T2 1210 1211
—&— Rocky Brands, Inc. — & - NASDAQ Composite -5« S&P Footwear

"$100 inverstod on 12031006 in stock or indox, including nelnvestmaont of dividonds
Fiscal year ending December 31,

Copyright® 2012 SP, a division of The McGraw-Hill Companies Inc. All rights reserved.
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ITEM 6. SELECTED CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL DATA.

ROCKY BRANDS, INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES
SELECTED CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL DATA
(in thowsands, except for per share data)

Five Year Financial Summary
12731711 12731118 123188 1273108 123107

Incomse Statement Data
Met sabes § 2395499 § 2527w § 22486 § 259538 § 275267
Gross margin (% of sales) 6. 7% 35.4% A6.8% 1.4% 39.7%
Met Income (boss) H 8307 5 7684 5 1.175 5 1.167 § (Z3.105)
Per Share
Met (loss) inoome

Buasic 5 1.11 5 1.14 5 2l 5 0.21 5 (4.22Z)

Diilued H 111 ] i.14 5 iR | ] 021 5 (422)
Weighted average number of commen shares cutstanding

Basic TART BT48 5,551 5.500 5476

Dilisted T.487 G.TE4 5551 5513 5476
Balance Sheet Data
Inventaries § 65009 i 5EE5) § 55420 5 T0a02 5 TadM
Total asseis § 174066 5 1GESTH § 163,500 5 196862 5 ZI6.TH
Working capital § 108573 5  9R156 § 0 MEN 5 124.586 § 135318
Long-term debi, less current mabarities § 35,000 5 3608 § 55080 5 BT.2S0 § 103220
Siockholders eiuily 5 116660 £ 105004 5 H2 AT8 5 B0L950 5 B1,T25

The 2011 financial data reflects charges for $3.7 million, net of tax benefits, for the termination of our defined
benefit pension plan. The 2008 financial data reflects restructuring charges of $0.5 million, net of tax benefits.
The 2008 and 2007 financial data reflects non-cash intangible impairment charges of 33.0 million and $23.5
million, net of tax benefits, respectively.

ITEM 7. MANAGEMENT'S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS OF FINANCIAL CONDITION AND
RESULTS OF OFPERATIONS.

This Management's Discussion and Analysis of Financlal Condition and Result nl'ﬂpﬂ'nliuns (“MDEAT) describes
the matters that we consider 1o be impontant o understanding (he results of our operations for each of the three years
in the period ended Decembser 31, 2011, and our capital resources and liquidity as of Decembser 31, 2011 and 2010
Use of the werms "Rocky,” the "Company.” “we,” “us" and “our™ in this discussion refer to Rocky Brands, Inc. and
Its subsidiaries. Our fiscal year begins on January 1 and ends on December 31. We analyze the results of our
operations for the last three years, incleding the trends in the overall business followed by a discussion of our cash
flows and liquidity, our credit facility, and contractual commitments. We then provide a review of the critical
accounting judgrments and estimates that we have made that we belicve are most important 1© an understanding of
our MD& A and our consolidated financial statements. We conclude our 3D A with information on recent
accounting pronouncements which we adoped during the year, as well as those not vet adogaed that are expected 1o
have an impact on our financial accounting practices,

The following discussion should be read in conjunction with the “Selected Consolidated Financial Data™ and our
consolidated financial statements and the notes thereto, all inclisded elsewhere herein. The forward-looking
statements in this section and other parts of this document involve risks and uncertainties including statements
regarding our plans, objectives, goals, strategies, and financial performance. Our actual results could differ
materially from the results anticipated in these forward-looking statements as a result of factors set forth under the
caption ~Safe Harbor Statement under the Private Securities Litigation Reform Act of 19957 below. The Private
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Securities Litigation Reform Act of 1995 provides a " safe harbor™ for forward-looking statements made by or on
behalf of the Company.

EXECUTIVE OVERVIEW

We are a leading designer, manufacturer and marketer of premium quality footwear and appare] marketed under a
portfolio of well recognized brand names including Rocky, Georgia Boot, Durango, Lehigh, and the licensed brands
Muossy Oak and Michelin.

Owr products are distributed through three distinct business segments: wholesale, retail and military. In our
wholesale business, we distribute our products through a wide range of distribution channels representing over ten-
thousand retail store locations in the U.5. and Canada. Our wholesale channels vary by product line and include
sporting goods stores, ouldoor retailers, independent shoe retailers, hardware stores, catalogs. mass merchants,
uniform stores, farm store chains, specialty safety stores and other specialty retailers. Our retail business includes
dinect sales of our products o consumers through our Lehigh mobile stores and our websites, We also sell footwear
under the Rocky label 1o the U.S, military.

Owr growth strategy is founded substantially on the expansion of our brands into new footwear and apparel markets.
Mew products that we introduce may not be sucoessful with consumers or one of mmore of our brands may Ffall out of
favor with consumers. [f we are unable to anticipate, identify or react appropriately to changes in consumer
preferences, we may not grow as fast as we plan (o grow or our sales may decline. and our brand image and

operating performance may suffer.

Furthermaore, achieving market acceptance for new products will likely require us 1o exert substantial product
development and marketing effons, which could result in a material increase in our selling. general and
administrative, or SG&A, expenses, and there can be no assurance that we will have the resources necessary (o

underiake such efforts, Material increases inour SGEA expenses could adversely impact our resulis of operations
and cash flows.

We may also encounter difficulties in producing new products that we did not amticipate during the development
stage. Our development schedubes for new products are difficult to predict and are subject 1o change as a result of
shifting priorities in response to consumer preferences and comipeting products, 1T we are nod able to efficiently
manufacture newly-developed products in quantities sufTicient to support retail distribution, we may not be able to
recoup our invesiment in the development of new products, Fallure to galn market acceptance for new products that
we introduce could impede our growth, reduce our profits, adversely affect the image of our brands, erode our
competitive positbon and result in long term harm (o our business,

During 2011, we began a project o implement a new Enterprise Resources Planning (ERFP) system 1o replace our
current system. As part of this implemeniation. we have Invested over 52 million into the project and expect the
implementation of the system to be completed in the third quarter of 2012, 1f we fail to properly execute and
complete the Implementation of this system, we could be adversely impacted both financially amd operationally,

FINANCIAL SUMMARY

*  Net sales of thewholesalesegment Increased $4.3 million in 201 lover prior year primarily as a result of
increased sales in our commercial military footwear category, which was partially offset by the discontinuation
of the Dickles license business at the end of 2010.

*  Net sales of the retail segment decreased $2.7 million in 2011 from the prior year primarily as a result of our
ongolng transitbon 1o more Inernet driven transactbons and the continued removal of our Lehigh mobile stores
from operations and closing additional mini-stores. These changes resulted in reductions in both net sales and
SGEA expenses.

*  Net sales of the military segment decreased $14.8 million in 201 1from the prior year. From time 1o time, we bid

on military contracts when they become avallable, Cur sales under such contracts are dependent on us winning
ihe bids for these contracts.

19



#  Gross margin of the wholesale segment increased $1.5 million in 200 1 over the prior vear as a result of higher
sales.

¢ Gross margin of the retail segment decreased $1.1 million in 201 1 from ihe prior vear as a result of lower overall

sales and an inventory adjustment in our Nelsonville. Ohio retail store.

«  Gross margin of the military segmentdecreased $1.8 million in 200 1over the prior year due primarily 1o lower
sales in 201 1.

¢ Selling. peneral and administrative expenses decreased $2.4 million in 20011 from prior year primarily as result
oflower compensation expense, professional fees and operating costs of our Lehigh division.

«  In 2011, we fully funded and terminated owr defined benefit pension plan. As a resull, we recorded a pretax

pension termination charge of $5.3 million as a component of total operating expense and an income tax benefit

of $1.6 million as a reduction to income 14X expense.

*  Net interest expense decreased $5.5 million in 2011 fromthe prior year due to the repayment of higher rate debt

in 2010

*  Met income increased $0.6 million in 201 lover prior vear results due primarily to expense reductions and lower

el interest expense, which was mostly offsed by the pension termination charge.

*  Total debt at December 31, 2011 was $35.0 million or $0.1 million lower than the prior year. Total debt minus

cash and cash equivalents was $31.3 million or 20.7% of wtal capitalization at December 31, 20011 compared (o

$30.7 million or 21.9% of total capitalization at year-end 2010.

#  Dur cash provided by operating activities decreased 57.5 million in 200 1from the prior vear, primarily the result

of the $4.9 million of cash used 1o fund and terminate the pension plan and a higher balance of inventories.

Net sales. Met sales and related oost of goods sold are recognized at the time products are shipped to the customer
and title transfers. Net sales are recorded net of estimated sales discounts and retums based upon specific customer

agreements and historical irends.

Cost of goods sold, Our cost of goods sold represents. our costs to manufacture products in our own facilities,
including raw materials costs and all overhead expenses related 1o production, as well as the cost (o purchase

Finished products from our third-party manufacturers, Cost of goods sold alse includes the cost to transport these
products to our distribution centers.

SC&EA expenses. Our SGEA expenses consist primarily of selling. marketing, wages and related payroll and
employee benefit costs, travel and insurance expenses, depreciation, amortization, professional fees, facility
expenses, bank charges, and warehouse and outhound freight expenses.

Percentage of Net Sales

The following table sets forth consolidated statements of operations data as percentages of 1otal net sales:

Years Ended December 31,
2011 ___2010 2009
Mt sales 100,0% 1000 1 0.0
Cosi of goods sold 63.3% BA.6% 63.2%
Gross margin 36.7% 35.4% 36.8%
SC&EA expense 29.2% 28.6% R.T%
Restructuring charges 0.0% 0.0% 0.3%
Pension termination charges 2.2% 0.0% 0.0%
Income from operations 5.3% 6.E% 38%

Resulis of Operations
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Year Ended December 31, 2011 Compared to Year Ended December 31, 2010

Net sales. Met sabes decreased 5.2% 1o 3239.6 million for 20011 compared 10 $252.8 million the prior vear.
Wholesale sales increased $4.3million to $192.6 million for 2011 compared to $188.3 million for 2010. The
increase in wholesale sales was the result of a 511.2 million or 129.6% increase in our commercial military Tootwear
category. a $1.3 million or 11.3% increase in apparel and accessories, a $1.0 million or 3.3% increase in our western
footwear category, a 30.5 million or 2.1% increase in our cutdoor foodwear category and a 30.5 million or 3.9%
increase in our duty footwear category, which were partially offset by a $7.4 million decline of our Dickies licensed
business and a $2.8 million decrease in other footwear.Our licensing agreement with Dickies expined on December
31, 2010. Retail sales were $44.8 million in 2011 compared to $47.5 million for 2000. The $2.7 million decrease
innetail sales resulted from our ongoing ransition to mone internel driven transactions amnd the decision 1o remave a
portion of our Lehigh mobile stores from operations to help lower operating expenses and improve operating
margins. Military segment sales, which occur from dme to time, were 52,2 million for 2011 compared o $17.0
million in 2010. From time to time, we bid on military contracts when they become available. Our sales under such
contracts are dependent on us winning the bids for these contracis Average list prices for our footwear, appare] and
accessories were higher in 2011 than 2010 as we increased our list prices to offset higher manufacturing and
sourcing costs,

Coross margin, Gross margin decreased 1o $87.9 millionor 36.7% of net sales for 200 1 comparsd 1o $39.4 million or
35.4% of net sales for the prior year. Wholesale gross margin for 201 1was $66.9 million, or 34.8% of net sales,
compared (o $65.5 million, or 34.8% of net sales in 2010, Retadl gross margin for 200 1was 52007 million, or 46.2%
of net sales, compared to $21.8 million, or 45.9% of net sales, in 2010. The 30 basis point increase was the result of
higher average selling prices and increased sales from our consumer web business, which carries a higher margin.
pantially offset by a $0.8 million inventory adjustment in the fourth quarter resulting from our annual physical
imventory. The adjustment was related to our retail store in Nelsonville, Ohio. We have implemented additional
procedures to ensure the accuracy of the inventory going forward. Military gross margin in 201 lwas $0.3 million,
of 13.4% of net sales, compared 1o 32.1 million, or 12.4% of nel sales in 2000,

SGEA expenses, SGEA expenses were $69.0 million, or 20.2% of net sales in 201 1 compared o 572 3million, or
28.6% of net sales for 2010. The net change primarily resulted from decreases incompensation and benefits
expenses of $1.2 million, Lehigh mobile and store expenses of $0.8 million, legal and professional fees of $0.6
million, incentive accruals of $0.6 million andbad debt expenses of $0.3 million, partially offset by increases in

advertising expenses of S0.8 million and freight expenses of $0.4 million.

Pension termination chargeIn the fourth quarter of 2011, we made a decision 1o fully fund and terminate our
defined benefit pension plan. During the fourth quarter, we contributed $4.9 million into the plan and incurred
related expenses and other adjustments of $0.4 million. As a result of these actlons, we recorded pension
termination charges totaling $5.3 million and an income tax benefit of $1.6 million.

fnrerest expense. Interest expense was $1.0million in 2011, compared 10 $6.5 million for the prior year. The
decrease of $5.5 milllon resulied primarily from ihe repayment of a 3400 million term node carmying interest at a
rate of 11.5% and the increased write-off of fees in 2010. This repayment was made with $14 million of proceeds
from our May 2010 equity offering as well as $26 million of borrowings from our new line of credit which generally
carries an interest rate of LIBOR plus 150 basis points. Our previous credit facility carried an interest rate of
LIBOR plus 300 hasis points, The interest expense for 2010 included the write off of fees of $2.1 million assoclated
with the early repayment of a portion of the company s term and revolving loans. The interest expense for 2011

included $0,1 million of prepayment penalties and other fees from early repayment of cur mongage loans in April
2011,

fncome taxes. Income tax expense was $3.7 million in 2011, compared to an income tax expense of $3.6 million for
ihe same period a year ago, The increase in income fax expense for 2001 was due to the 30,8 million increase in
pretax income, mostly offset by a decrease in the effective tax rate. The effective tax rate for 2001 was 31.0%
compared to 31,7% for 2010, The decrease in our effective tax rate for 2011 was due principally to increasing our

1 capital investment in 2011 in our operations in the Dominican Republic, which reduced the amount of
dividends that we need to provide for U.S income taxes.

Year Ended December 31, 2000 Compared to Year Ended December 31, 2009

Net sales. Met sales increased 10.2% 1o $252.8 milllon for 2000 compared 1o $3229.5 million the prior vear.
Wholesale sales increased $14.0 million to $188.3 million for 2010 compared 1o $174.3 million for 2009, The
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increase in wholesale sales was the result of a $12.3 million or 15.6% increase in our work footwear category, a $2.3
million or 11.7% increase in our duty footwear category, and a 31.2 million or 4.0% increase in our western
Footwear category, which was partially offset by a 30.7 million or 5.6% decrease in our appare] calegory, a 5006
million or 2.4% decrease in our outdoor footwear category and a $0.5 million decrease in other. Retail sales were
$47.5 miillion in 2000 compared to 35000 million for 2009, The $2.5 million decrease in retail sales resulted from
our ongoing transition to more internet driven transactions and the decision to remove a portion of our Lehigh
maodbile stores from operations o help lower operating expenses. Military segment sales, which cocur from time to
time, were $17.0 million for 2000 compared to $5.2 million in 2009, Shipments in 20010 were primarily under the
£20.0 million contract ssued in July 2009, Shipments in 2000 were under the $6.4 million contract issued in July
2007 and the July 2009 contract. Average list prices for our footwear, apparel and accessories were similar in 2010
compared 1o 2009,

Coross margin. Gross margin increased 1o $B9.4 millionor 35.4% of net sales for 2010 compared 1o $84.6 million or
36.8% of net sales for the prior year. Wholesale gross margin for 2000 was $65.5 million. or 34.8% of net sales,
compared 1o 360.6 million, or 34.8% of net sales in 2009, Reail gross margin for 2000 was 52 1.8 million, or 45.9%
of net sales, compared to $23.4 million, or 46.9% of net sales, in 2009. The 100 basis point decrease reflected
reduced sales via our mobile siores, which carry the highest gross margin in our retail business, Military gross
margin in 2000 was $2.1 million, or 12.4% of net sales, compared to $0.6 million, or 10.7% of net sales in 2009,
The shipments in 2000 under the $20.0 million coniract had & higher gross margin than shipments under previous
contracts.

SC&A expenses. SCEA expenses were $72.3 million. or 28.6% of net sales in 2010 compared to $75.1 million, or
32.7% of net sabes for 2009, The net change primarily resulted from decreases in compensation and benefits
expenses of $2.5 million, bad debt expenses of $1.0 million. Lehigh store expenses of $1.0 million and a $0.5
million decrease in the amortization of Gnite-lived intangible assets, pantially offsel by increases in incentive
accruals of $2.3 million. The reductions in compensation, benefits and store expenses were partially a result of the
restructuring initiatives that were implemenied in the fourth quarter of 2009,

fnverest expense, Interest expense was 36.5 million in 20010, compared o $7.5 million for the prior year. The
decrease of $1.0 million resulted from a reduction in average borrowings compared to the same period last year and
the repayment of higher rate debt during 20010, partially offset by the write off of fees of $2.1 million asseciated with
the early repayment of a portion of the company’s term and revolving loans.

fncome taxes. Income tax expense was $3.6 million in 2010, compared to an income tax expense of $0.7 million for
the same period a year ago. The increase in income tax expense for 2010 was due to the $9.4 million increase in
pretax income, partially offset by a decrease in the effective tax rate. The effective tax rate for 2000 was 31.7%
compared 1o 36.5% for 2000, The decrease in our effective tax rate for 2010 was due principally 1o making a

I capital investment in our operations in the Dominican Republic, which reduced the amount of dividends
that we need o provide for LS income taxes,

LIQUIMTY AND CAPITAL RESOURCES
Orverview

Our principal sources of liquidity have been our income from operations and borrowings under our credit facility
and other indebtedness.

Owver the Last several years our principal uses of cash have been for working capital and capital expenditures 1o
support our growth. Our working caphial consists primarily of trade recefvables and vwventory, i byy accounis
payable and accrued expenses. Our working capital Muctuates throughout the year as a result of our seasonal
business cycle and business expanshon and s generally lowest in the months of January through March of each vear
and highest during the months of May through October of each year. We typically utilize our revolving credit
facility 1o fund our seasonal working caplial requirements. As a result, balances on our revolving credit facility will
Muectuate significantly throughout the year. Our working capital increased to $108.6 million a December 31, 2011,
compared o 3982 million at the end of the prior year,

Owr capital expenditures relate primarily to projects relating to our corporate offices, property, merchandising
fictures. molds and equipment associated with our manufacturing operations and for information technologry.

Caphal expenditures were $7.6 mdlllon for 2011 and $4.7 million in 2010, Caplial expenditures for 2012 are
anticipated to be approximately $6.3 million.

22



In May 2010, we amended the terms of our revolving credit facility with GMAC Commercial Finance ("GMAC”) to
advance 515 million o the Company under the existing revolving portion of its credil facility to prepay amounts due
under term loans with Laminar Direct Capital L_P. and Whitebox Hedged High Yield Parners, L.P. After the
prepavement, principal under the term loans totaled $11 million in the aggregate,

Abso in May 20010, we completed a public offering of 1.8 million shares of common steck at a price of 3840 per
share. We received net proceeds from the offering of $14.1 million after deducting $0.9 million in underwriting
discounts and 0.1 million in expenses, The procesds were used (o prepay amounts due under term loans with
Laminar Direct Capital L.P. and Whitebox Hedged High Yield Partners, L.P.

In October 2010, we entered info a new financing agreement with PNC Bank ("PNC”) to provide a $70 million
credit facility that replaced the existing revolving credit facility with GMAC. In addition. the new Minancing
agreement with FNC was used to repay the remaining balance of approcimately $11 million under the term loans.
The term of the new credin facility is five years and the current interest rate is generally LIBOR plus 1.505%.

In April 2001, we repaid the remaining balance of approximaiely 31.8 million on our morigage loans by bosrowing
under a sub-facility on the PNC credit facility. The sub-facility is secured by real estate owned by us. In connection
with this rransaction, we incummed approximately 30.1 million of prepayment and other fees that were reponied as
additional interest expense in the second quarter of 2011. The morgage loans were incurring interest at 8.28% and
were replaced with borrowings under the credin facility for a current interest rate of LIBOR plus 1.50%.

The tal amount available on our revolving credil facility is subject 1o a borrowing base calculation based on
various percentages of accounts receivable and inventory. As of December 31, 2011, we had $35.0 million in
borrowings under this facility and toial capacity of $68.2 million,

Our credit facility contains a restrictive covenant which requires us to maintain a fixed charge coverage ratio. This
restrictive covenant is only in effect upon a triggering event taking place (as defined in the credit facility agreemendt).
Al Decervber 31, 2011, there was no triggering event and the covenant was mol in effect, Our credin facility places a
restriction on the amount of dividends that may be paid. At December 31, 2011, we had no retained earnings
available for the payment of dividends.

We belisve that our credit facility coupled with cash generated from operations will provide sufficient liquidity 1o
fund our operations for at least the nest twelve months. Our continued liquidity, however, is contingent upon Future
operating performance, cash flows and our ability 10 meet financial covenants under our credit facility.

Based on our expected bormowings for 2011, a hypothetical 100 basis point increase in short term interest rates
would result, over the subssquent twelve-month period, in a reduction of approsximately $0.4 million in income
before Income iaxes and cash Nows. The estimated reductlons are based upon the current level of variable debt and
assume no changes in the composition of that debt.

Cash Flows

Cash Flow Summary 2011 2010 2009

{$ in millions)

Cash provided by (used in):
Operating activities $ 6.5 § M0 0§ 359
Investing activities (7.5 4.7 (4.9)
Financing activities 0.3 {6.7) {33.5)

MNet change in cash and cash equivalenis E !EEI g 26 E iE.EE

Operating Activities. Net cash provided by operating activities totaled $6.5 million for 2011, compared 10 $14.0
milllon for 2000, and $35.9 million for 2009, The principal sources of net cash in 2001 Inclisded higher net income
and decreases in accounts receivable, which were partially offset by the $4.9 million in pension contributions to fund
and terminate the defined benefit pension plan, higher balances of inventory and reduced accounts payable, The
principal sources of net cash in 2010 included higher net income and increases in accounts payable and other
accrued liabilities, partially offset by slightly higher balances of inventory and accounts recelvable. The principal
sources of net cash in 2009 included decreases of $14.2 million in accoums receivable and 5149 million in
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imventory offset by decreases of $3.1 million in accounts payable. The net cash provided for 2009 was positively
impacted by unusually higher inventory levels at the end of 2008 that decreased to normal levels by the end of 2009,

Investing Activities. Net cash used in investing activities was $7.5 million in 2011 compared to $4.7 million in 2010
and 54.9 million in 2008, The principal use of cash in 2001, 2000 and 2009 was for ithe purchase of molds and
equipment associated with our manufacturing operations and for information technobogy software and system

upgrades,

Financing Activities. Cash provided by lnancing activities during 2011 was $0.3 million compared 1o cash used by
financing activities of $6.7 million in 2010 and $33.5 million in 2009. Proceeds and repayments of the revolving
credit facility reflect daily cash disbursement and deposit activity, Ourfinancing activities during 2011 included net
borrowings under the revolving line of credit facility of $1.9 million andrepayments on long term debt of $2.0
million, During 2011, we repaid our long-term real estate obligations with borrowings under the revolving line of
credit. Our financing activities during 2010 included $14.1 million of proceeds from the aforementioned issuance of
comrmon stock. net bormowings under the revalving line of credit facility of $20.0 million, repayments on long term
debt of $40.5 million and debt financing costs of $0.6 million.Our financing activities during 2009 incheded
repayments on long term debd of $0.5 million and debd financing costs of $1.5 million.

Borrowings and External Sources of Funds
Our borrowings and external sources of funds were as follows at December 31, 2001 and 2010

December 31

($ in millions) 2011 010
Revalving credit facility § 350 § 111
Real estate obligations - 1.9
Other . 0.1
Total debt 350 35l
Less current maturities - 1.5
Net long-term debt 5 350§ 34b

We continually evaluate our external credit arrangemenis in light af our growih sirategy and new opportunities. In
October 2010, we entered into a financing agreement with PNC bank o provide a $70 million credit facility that
replaced the existing revolving credit facility with GMAC. The term of the credit facility is five years and the
imterest rate is currently LIBOR plus 1.50%.

Our real estate obligations were $1.9 million a1 December 31, 20000 These obligations were repaid in 2011 by
borrowing under a sub-facility on the PNC revolving credit agreement.

We lease certain machinery, trucks, shoe centers, and manufacturing facilities under operating leases that generally
provide for repewal options, Fuiure minimuem bease payments under non-cancelable operating leases are $1.0
million, $0.6 million, $0.5 million and $0.0 million for years 2012 through 2015, respectively, or approximately
$2.1 million in total.
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Contractual Obligations and Commercial Commitments

The following table summarizes our contraciual obligations at December 31, 2011 resulling from financial contracts
and commitments. We have not included information on our recurring purchases of materials for use in our
manufacturing operations. These amounts are generally consistent from yvear 1o year, closely reflect our levels of
production, and are not bong-term in nature (less than three months).

Contractual Obligations at December 31, 2011:

Payments due by Year
5 millions
Liss Than Ower 5

Total 1 Year 1-3 Years  3-5 Years Years
Long-term debt 5 35.0 1 - 5 - 7 35.0 1 -
Minimum operating lease commitments 2.0 L0 1.0 - -
Minimum rovally commitments 0.8 0.7 0.1 .
Expected cash requirements for interest (1) 4.3 1.1 2.3 0.9
Total contractual obligations § 421 5 28 3 3, $ 359 3

(1) Assumes a 3.25% interest rate, which is the highest rate possible as of December 31. 2011 on the $70 million
revalving credit faciliny.

From tme to ime, we enter into purchase commitments with our suppliers under cusiomary purchase order terms.
Amny significant losses implicit in these contracts would be recognized in accordance with generally accepted
accounting principles, At December 31, 2011, no such losses existed,

Our ongolng business activities continue o be subject 1o compliance with various laws, rules and regulations as may
be issued and enforced by various federal, state and local agencies. With respect to environmental matters, costs are
Incurred pertaining to regulatory compliance, Such costs have not been, and are not anticipated 10 become, material,

We are contingently liable with respect to lawsuits. taxes and various other matters that routinely arise in the normal

course of business, We do not have off-balance sheet arrangements. Ninancings, or other relationships with
unconsolidated entities or other persons, also known as “Variable Interest Entities.” Additionally, we do not have

any related party transactions that materially affect the resulis of operations, cash flow or financial condition,

InNation

Our financial performance is inMuenced by factors such as higher raw material cosis as well as higher salaries and
employee benefits. Management attempts to minimize or offset the effects of inflation through increased selling
prices, productivity improvements. and cost reductions, We were able 1o mitigate the effects of inflation during
2011, 2010 and 2009 due to these factors. 1t is anticipated that inflationary pressures during 2012 will be offset
iheough price increases thal wene implemented in the laer pan of 2011.
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CRITICAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES AND ESTIMATES

“Management's Discussion and Analyvsis of Financial Condition and Resulis of Operations” discusses our
consolidated financial statements, which have been prepared in accordance with accounting principles generally
accepded in the United States. The preparation of these consolidated financial statemenis réquines managemént (o
make estimates and assumptions that affect the reported amounts of assets and liabilities, the disclosure of
contingent assets and liabilities o the date of the consolidated Minancial statements and the reponied amounts of

revenues and expenses during the reporting period. A summary of our significant accounting policies is included in
ihe Notes 1o Consolidated Financial Statements included in this Anmeal Report on Form 10-E.

Dur management regularly reviews our acoounting policies 1o make cenain they are curment and also provide readers
of the consolidated financial statements with useful and reliable information about our operating results and
financial condition. These include, but are nod limited 1o, matters related to acoounts receivable, imventories,
imtangibles, pension benefits and income taxes. Implementation of these accounting policies includes estimates and
Judgmenis by management based on historical experience and other factors believed 1o be reasonable, This may
include judgments about the camrying value of assets and liabilities based on considerations that are not readily

apparent from other sources, Actual resulis may differ from these estimates under different assumplions or
conditions.

Our management believes the following critical accounting policies are most important to the portrayal of our

financial condition and results of operations and require more significam judgments and estimates in the preparation
of our consolidated financlal statements.

Revenwe recognition

Revenue principally consists of sales to customers, and, 1o a lesser extent, license fees. Revenue is recognized when
goods are shipped and tithe passes (o the customer, while license fees are recognized when eamed, Custormer sales
are recorded net of allowances for estimated retumns, trade promotions and other discounts, which are recognized as
a deduction from sales at the time of sale,

Accoms recefvable allowances

Management maintaing allowances for uncollactible accounts for astimated losses resulting from the inability of our
customers 1o make required payments. Il the financial condition of our customers were 1o deteriorate, resulting in an
impalrment of their ability to make payments, additional allowances may be required. The allowance for
uncollectible accounts is calculated based on the relative age and size of trade receivable balances.

Sales returms and alfowances

We record a reduction 1o gross sales based on estimated customer returns and allowances. These reductions are
influenced by historical expertence, based on customer returns and allowances. The actual amount of sales returns
and allowances realized may differ from our estimates. 1§ we determine that sales returns or allowances should be
elther increased or decreased, then the adjusiment would be made to net sales in the perfod In which such a
determination is made. Sales returns and allowances for sales returns were approximately 3.3% of sales for 2011
and 2010,

fnveriories

Management identifles slow moving or obsolete inventories and estimates appropriate loss provisions related 1o
these inventories. Historically, these loss provisions have not been significant as the vast majority of our inventories
are conshilersd saleable and we have been able to liquidate slow moving or obsolete inveniories at amounts above
cost through our factory outlet stores or through various discounts to customers. Should management encounter
difficulties liquidating slow moving or obsolete inventories, additional provisions may be necessary. Management
regularly reviews the adequacy of our inventory reserves and makes adjustments to them as requined.

fneangible assets

Intangible assets, including goodwill, trademarks and patents are reviewed for impairment annually, and morne
frequently, If necessary. We perform such testing of goodwill and indefinite-lived intangible assets In the fourth
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quarter of each vear or as events ooour of circumstances change that would mone likely than not reduce the Fair value
of the asset below its carrying amount.

In assessing whether indefinite-lived intangible assets are impaired, we must make certain estimates and
assurnplions regarding future cash Nows, long-term growth rates of our business, operating margins, weighted
average cost of capital and other factors such as; discount rates, royalty rates, cost of capital, and market multiples to
determine the fair value of our assets, These estimates and assumptions require management's judgment, and
changes to these estimates and assumptions could materially affect the determination of fair value andior impairment
For each of our other indefinite-lived inangible assets, Fulure events could cause us 1o conclude that indications of
intangible asset impairment exist. Impairment may result from, among other things, deterioration in the
performance of our business, adverse market conditions, adverse changes in applicable laws and regulations,
competition, or the sale or disposition of a reporting segment. Any resulting impairment loss could have a material
adverse impact on our financial condition and results of operations.

Pension benefits

Accounting for pensions invelves estimating the cost of bepefits o be provided well imo the Tuture and attributing
that cost aver the time period each employes works. To accomplish this, extensive use is made of assumptions
aboul inflation, invesiment returms, mortality. wmover and discount rates. These assumplions ane reviewed
annually. See Note 10, “Retirement Plans,” to the consolidated financial statements for information on our plan and
the assumpions used,

Pension expenses are determined by actuaries using assumplions conceming the discoumt rate, expected returm on
plan assets and rate of compensation increase. An actuarial analysis of benefit obligations and plan assets is
determined as of December each year, The fumded status of our plan and reconcilistion of accrued pension cost is
determined annually as of December 31. Actual results would be different using other assumptions. On December
31, 2005 we froze the nonconiribulony defined benelit pension plan for all non-1L5, territorial emplovees, In the
fourth quarter of 2011, we fully funded and terminated the pension plan.

Tneome faxves

Management has recorded a valuation allowance 1o redece its deferred tax assets for a portion of state and local
income lax nel operating losses that it believes may not be realized. We have considered Future taxable income and
ongoing prudent and feasible tax planning sirategles in assessing the need for a valuation allowance, however, in the
evenl we were 1o determine that we would not be able 1o realize all or part of our net defermed 1ax assets in the
future, an adjustment to the deferred tax assets would be charged to income in the period such determination was
made. At December 31, 201 1. approximately $14.7 million of undistributed eamings remains that would become
iaxable upon repatriatbon fo the Unlied States,

RECENT FINANCIAL ACCOUNTING PRONOUNCEMENTS
Recently Adopted Accounting Pronouncements

In September 2009, the Financial Accounting Standards Board (FASE) issued an accounting standards update
(ASU). Revenre Recogmition - Militple Deliveratile Revenue Arramgements, This update addresses how (o
determine whether an arrangement involving multiple deliverables contains more than one unit of accounting and
how 1o allocate the consideration to each unit of accounting. This update eliminates the use of the residual value
method for determining allocation of arrangement consideration and allows the use of an entity’s best estimate 1o
determine the selling price if vendor specific objective evidence and third-pany evidence cannot be

determined. This update also requires additional disclosure to provide both qualitative and quantitative information
regarding the significant judgments made in applying this update, In addition. for each reporting pericd in the initial
year of adoption, this update requires disclosure of the amount of revenue recognized subject to the measurement
requirements of this update and the amount of revenue that would have been recognized Iif the related transactions
were subject 1o the measurement requirements prior (o this update. This update is effective for revenue
arrangements entered into or materially modified In fiscal vears beginning after June 15, 20010, The adoption of this
standard did not have a material effect on our consolidated financial statements.

In December 2010, the FASE issued ASU No. 2010-28, Intangibles - Goodwill and Other (Topic 350): When to
Perform Step 2 of the Goodwill Impairment Test for Reporting Units with Zero or Negative Carrying Amounts. This
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ASU reflects the decision reached in EITF Issue No. 10-A. The amendments in this ASL modify Step 1 of the
goodwill impairment test for reporting units with zero or negative camrying amounts. For those reporting units, an
entity i required to perform Step 2 of the goodwill impairment test if it is more likely than nol that a goodwill
impairment exists. In determining whether it is more likely than not that a goodwill impairment exists, an entity
should consider whether there are any adverse qualitative factors indicating that an imgairment may exist. The
qualitative factors are consistent with the existing guidance and examples, which require that goodwill of a reporting
i b pested for impairment between anmeal tesis il an event occurs or circumstances change that would more
likely than not reduce the fair value of a reporting unit below its carrying amount. For public entities, the
amendments in this ASU are effective for Miscal vears, and interim periods within those vears, beginning after
December 15, 2010 The adoption of this standard did not have a material effect on our consolidated financial
Slalements.

I December 2000, the FASE issusd ASU 2010-20, Business Combingtions (Tople 805): Disclosire of
Supplementary Pro Forma Information for Business Combinations. This ASU reflects the decision reached in EITF
Issue No. 10-G. The amendments in this ASU affect any public entity as defined by Topic 805, Business
Combination that enters into business combinations that are material on an individual or aggregate basis. The
amendments in this ASU specily that il’ a public entity presents comparative flinancial statements, the entity should
disclose revenue and earnings of the combined entity as though the business combination(s) that occurred during the
curment yviear had oocurred as of the beginning of the comparable prior annual reporting period only. The
amendments also expand the supplemental pro forma disclosures to include a description of the nature and amount
of material, nonrecurring pro forma adjustments directly attribatable to the business combination included in the
reported pro forma revenue and eamings. The amendments are effective prospectively for business combinations
For which the acquisition date is on or afler the beginning of the Trst annual reporting period beginning on or after
December 15, 2010, The adoption of this standard did not have a material effect on our consolidated financial
Slalements.

In April 2011, the FASE issued ASU No, 2011-02, Receivables (Topic 310): A Creditor's Determination of
Whether a Restructuring Is a Trowbled Debt Restructuring. The FASB believes the guidance in this ASU will
improve Minancial reporting by creating greater consistency in the way GAAP is applied for various tyvpes of deb
restructurings. The ASLU clarifies which loan modifications constitute troubled debt restructurings. It is intended to
assist creditors in determining whether a modification of the terms of a receivable meets the criteria to be considensd
a troubled debt restracturing, both for purposes of recording an impairment loss and for disclosure of troubled debt
restructurings. [n evaluating whethér a restructuring constitutes a troubled dabt restructuring, a craditor must
separately conclude that bath of the following exist: (a) the restructuring constitwes a concession: and () the debtor
is experiencing financial difficulties. The amendments to FASE Accountimg Standards Codification™ (Codification)
Topic 310, Receivables, clarify the guidance on a creditor’s evaluation of whether it has granted a concession and
whether a debtor is experiencing financial difficulties. The guidance was effective for interim and annual periods
beginning on or after June 15, 2011, and applies retrospectively to restructurings occurring on or after the beginning
of the Mscal vear of adoption. The adoptbon of this standard did not have a material effect on our consolidated
linancial statements.

Accounting standards not yet adopted

In May 2011, the FASE issued ASU No. 2011-04. Fair Valwe Measurement (Topic 820): Amendments fo Achieve
Conmvman Falr Value Measurement and Disclosure Requiremenis in U5, GAAF and IFRSs, This ASL represents the
converged guidance of the FASE and the IASE (the Boards) on fair value measurement. The collective efforts of the
Boards and thelr staffs, reflected in ASL 201 1-04, have resulted in commaon requirements for measuring fair value
and for disclosing information about fair value measurements, including a consistent meaning of the term ~fair
value.” The Boards have concluded the common requirements will result in greater comparability of falr value
measurements presented and disclosed in financial statements prepared in accordance with U.S. GAAF and IFR3s.
The amendmenis in this ASLU are 1o be applied prospectively. For public entithes, the amendmenis are effective
during interim and annual periods beginning after December 15, 2011, Early application by public entities is not
permitted. We are currenily assessing the potential impact of the adoption of this standard on our consolidated
fimancial statements and related diselosures.

In June 2011, the FASB issued ASU No. 2011-05. Comprehensive Income (Topic 220): Presentation of
Comprehensive Income. Under the amendments to Topic 220, an entity has the option to present the total of
comprehensive income, the components of net income and the components of ather comprehensive income either in
a single continuous statement of comprehensive income or in two separate but consecutive statements, In both
choices, an entity is required to present each component of net income along with total net income, each component
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of other comprehensive incorme along with a wotal for other comprehensive income, and a odal amount for
comprehensive income. This update eliminates the option to present the components of other comprehensive income
as part of the statement of changes in stockholders” equity. The amendments in this update do not change the ilems
that must be reported in other comprehensive income or when an item of other comprehensive income must be
reclassified o net income. The amendments in this update should be applied retrospectively. For public entities, the
amendments are effective for fiscal years, and interim periods within those years, beginning after December 15,
2011, Early adoption is permifted, because compliance with the amendments is already permitted, The amendments
do not require any transition disclosures. Wi are currently assessing the potential impact of the adoption of this
standard on our consolidated Mnancial statements and related disclosures.

In September 2011, the FASB issued ASU No. 201 1-08, Intangifles - Goodwill and Other = [Topic 3500 Testing
Coodwill for Impairment. The amendments in this update will allow an entity to first assess qualitative factors to
determine whether it is necessary 1o perform the two-step quantitative poodwill impairment test. Under these
amendments, an entity would not be required to calculate the fair valee of a reporting unit unbess the entity
determines, based on a qualitative assessment, that it is mone likely than mot that its fair value is less than its canmying
amount. The amendments include a number of events and circumstances for an entity to consbder in conducting the
qualitative assessment, The amendmenis are effective for annual and interim goodwill impairment tests performed
for fiscal years beginning after December 15, 2011. Early adoption is permitted, including for annual and interim
poodwill impairment tesis performed as of a date before September 15, 2001, il an entity"s linancial statements for
the most recent annual or interim period have not yet been issued or, for nonpublic entities. have not yet been made
available for issuance. We are curremly assessing the potential impact of the adoption of this standard on our
consolidated financial statements and related disclosures.

In September 2011, the FASB issued ASU No. 2011-9, Compensation - Retirement Benefits - Multiemplover Plans
[Subrapic 715-800 Disclosures about an Employver s Participation in a

Multiemplover Plan. The amendments in this update require additional disclosures about an employer's
participation in a muliiemployver plan, For public entities, the amendments in this Update are effective for annual
periods for fiscal years ending after December 15, 2011, with early adoption permitted. The amendments should be
applied retrospectively for all prios periods presented. We are currently assessing the potential impact of the
adoption of this standard on our consolidated financial statements and related disclosures.

In December 2011, the FASB issued ASU No. 2011-12, Compretensive fncome (Topic 220):
Deferral of the Effective Date for Amendments 1o the Presentation of Reclassifications of frams Our of Acctnmulated
Ceher Comprehensive Income in Accounting Standards Update No. 2011-05. The amendments in this update

supersede certain pending paragraphs in Accounting Standards Update Mo, 200 1-05. Comprehensive Income (Toplc
220): Presemtation of Comprehensive Income, to effectively defer only those changes in Update 2011-05 that relate

to the presentation of reclassification adjustments out of accumulated other comprehensive income. The
amendments will be temporary 10 allow the FASE time to redeliberate the presentation requirements for
reclassifications out of accumulated other comprehensive income for annueal and interim financlal statements for
public, private, and non-profit entities.. We ane currently assessing the potential impact of the adoption of this
amendment on our consolidated financial statements and related disclosures.,
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SAFE HARBOR STATEMENT UNDER THE PRIVATE SECURITIES REFORM ACT OF 1995

This Management s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Conditions and Results of Operations contains forward-
looking statements within the meaning of Section Z1E of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended, and
Section 27A of the Securities Act of 1933, as amended, which are intended to be covered by the safe harbors created
thereby. Those statements include, but may not be limited to, all statements regarding our and management s intent.
belief, expectations, such as statemenis concerning our future profitability and our operating and growth strategy.
Waords such as “believe,” “anticipate,” “expect,” “will.” "may,” “should,” “intend,” “plan.” “estimate,” “predict,”
“potential.” “comtinue,” “likely™ amd similar expressions are intended o identify forwand-looking stalements,
Investors are cautioned that all forward-looking statements involve risk and uncertainties including, without
limitations, dependence on sales forecasis, changes in consumer demand. seasonality, impact of weatler,
competition, reliance on suppliers, changing retail trends. economic changes, as well as other factors set forth under
the caption “liem 1A, Risk Factors™ in this Anmeal Report on Form 10-K and other factors detailed from time 1o
time in our filings with the Securities and Exchange Commission. Although we believe that the assumptions
underlyving the forward-looking stmements contained herein are reasonable, any of the sssumptions could be
inaccurate. Therefore, there can be no assurance that the forward-looking statements included herein will prove to
be accurate, In light of the significant unceriainties inherent in ihe forward-looking statements included herein, the
inclusion of such information should not be regarded as a representation by us or any other person that our
objectives and plans will be achieved. We assume no obligation 1o update any forwand-looking statemenis.

ITEM TA. QUANTITATIVE AND QUALITATIVE DISCLOSURES ABOUT MARKET RISK.

Owr primary market risk results from fluctwations in interest rates. We are also exposed to changes in the price of
comrmodities used in our manufacturing operations, However, commodity price risk related 1o the Company’s
current commeadities is not material as price changes in commodities can generally be passed along o the customer.
We do not hold any market risk sensitive instruments for trading purposes,

The following item is market rate sensitive for interest rates for the Company: long-term debt consisting of a credit
facility (as described below) with a balance at December 31, 201 1of $35.0 million.

In May 2010, we amended the terms of our revolving credit facility with GMAC Commercial Finance ("GMAC”) 1o
advance $15 million ta the Company under the existing revalving portion of its eredit facility to prepay amounts due
under term loans with Laminar Direct Capital L.P. and Whitebox Hedged High Yield Pariners, L.P. After the
prepavment, principal under the term loans totaled 511 millkon in the aggregate,

Also in May 2010, we completed a public offering of 1.8 million shares of common stock at a price of $8.40 per
share. We received net proceeds from the offering of $14.1 million after deducting $0.9 million in underwriting
discounts and $0.1 million in expenses, The proceeds were used (o prepay amounts due under term loans with
Laminar Direct Capital L.P. and Whitebox Hedged High Yield Partners, L.P.

In October 2010, we entered info a new financing agreement with PNC Bank ("PNC”) 1o provide a $70 million
credit facility that replaced an existing revolving credit facility with GMAC. In additlon, ihe new financing
agreement with PNC was used to repay the remaining balance of approccimately $11 million under the term lnans.
The term of the new credit facility is five years and the current inferest rate is generally LIBOR plus 1,505,

In April 2001, we repald the remaining balance of approximately $1.8 million on our mortgage loans by bosrowing
under a sub-facility on the PNC credit facility. The sub-facility is secured by real estate owned by us. In connection
with this transactbon, we incurred approximately $0.1 million of prepayment and other fees that were reported as
additional interest expense in the second quarter of 2011. The mongage loans were incurring imterest at 8.28% and
were replaced with borrowings under the crediin facility for a current interest rate of LIBORE plus 1.50%,

We do not have any interest rate management agreements as of December 31, 2011,

ITEM 8. FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND SUPPLEMENTARY DATA.

Dur consolidated balance sheets as of December 31, 20011 and 2010 and the related consolidated statements of
operations, shareholders” equity, and cash Nows for the years ended December 31, 2001, 2000, and 2004, iogether
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with the report of the independent registersd public accounting firm thereon appear on pages F-1 through F-29
hereof and are incorporated herein by reference.

ITEM 9. CHANGES IN AND DISAGREEMENTS WITH ACCOUNTANTS
ON ACCOUNTING AND FINANCIAL DISCLOSURE.

Mone.

ITEM 9A. CONTROLS AND PROCEDURES,
Evaluiation of Disclosure Controls and Procedurness

As of the end of the period covered by this report, our management carried oul an evaluation, with the participation
of our principal executive officer and principal financial officer, of the effectiveness of our disclosure controls and
procedures (as defined in Rules 13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e) promulgated under the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as
amended). Based upon that evaluation, our principal executive officer and principal financial officer concluded that
our disclosure controls and procedures wene effective as of the end of the period covered by this report. 1t should be
noted that the design of any system of controls is based in pant upon certain assumptions about the likelihood of
Future events, and there can be no assurance that any design will succeed in achieving its stated goals under all
potential future conditions, regardless of how remaote.

Changes in Internal Control over Financial Reporting

As part of our evaluation of the effectiveness of internal controls over financial reporting described below, we made
cerfain improvements to our internal controls, However, there were no changes in our imernal controls over
financial reporting that occurred during our most recent fiscal quarter that have materially affected, or are reasonably
likely o materially affect, our internal contnol over linancial reporting.

Management's Report on Internal Control over Financial Reporting

Our management is responsible for establishing and maintaining adequate internal control over financial reporting.
as such term is defined in Rule 13a-15(f) under the Exchange Act. Because of its inherent limitations, internal
control over linancial reporting may nol prevent or detect misstatements. Also, projections of any evaluation of
effectiveness 1o future periods are subject 1o risk that controls may become inadequate because of changes in
conditions, or that the degree of compliamce with the policies or procedures may deteriorate, Under the supervision
and with the participation of our principal executive officer and principal financial officer, our management
conducied an evaluation of the effectiveness of our internal control over financial reporting based on the framework
in Internal Contral - Infegrated Framework issued by the Committee of Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway
Commission. Based upon that evaluation under the framework in fnfernal Controd - Integrated Framework, our
management concluded that our internal control over financial reporting was effective as of December 31, 2011.
schneider Downs & Co., Inc., our independent registered public accounting firm has issued an attestation report on
the effectiveness of our internal controls over financial reporting which is included on the following page.
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To the Board of Directors and Shareholders of Rocky Brands, Ine.:

We have audited Rocky Brands, Inc. and subsidiaries’ (the “Company”) internal control over financial reporting as
of December 31, 201 1, based on criteria established in Inmernal Control —Imegrated Framework kssued by the
Committes of Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway Commission (COS0). The Company s management is
responsible for maintaining effective internal conirol over financial reporting and for s assessment of the
effectiveness of internal control over financial reporting included in the accompanying Management's Report on
Internal Control Over Financial Reporting, Our responsibility |5 to express an opinlon on the Company’s internal
control over financial reporting based on our audit.

We conducted our audit in accordance with the standards of the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board
(United States), Those standards require that we plan and perform the audi 1o obtain reasonable assurance abmn
whether effective internal control over financial reporting was maintained in all material respects. Our audit of
internal control over financial reporting incheded obtaining an understanding of intermal conirol over financial

assessing the risk that a material weakness exists, and testing and evaluating the design and operating
effectiveness of internal control based on the assessed risk. Owr audit also included performing such other
procedures as we considered necessary in the circumstances. Wi believe that our audit provides a reasonable basis
For our opindon.

A company s internal conirol over financial reporting is a process designed 1o provide reasonable assurance
regarding the reliability of financial reporting and the preparation of financial statements for external purposes in
accordance with generally accepted accounting principles, A company’s imernal contral over financial reporting
includes those policies and procedures that (1) pertain to the maintenance of records that, in reasonable detail,
accurately and fairly reflect the iransactions and dispositions of the assets of the company: (2) provide reasonable
assurance that transactions are recorded as necessary (o permit preparation of financial statements in accordance
with generally accepied accounting principles. and that receipis and expenditures of the company are being made
only in accordance with authorizations of management and directors of the company: and (3) provide reasonable
assurance regarding prevention or timely detection of unauthorized acquisition, use, or disposition of the company’s
asseds that could have a material effect on the financial statements.

Because of its inherent limitations, internal control over financial reporting may not prevent or detect misstalements,
Also, projections of any evaluation of effectiveness to future periods are subject 1o the risk that controls may become

inadequate because of changes in conditions, or that the degree of compliance with the policies or procedures may
deteriorate.

In our opinion, the Company maintained, in all material respects, effective internal control over financial reporting
as of December 31, 2011, based on criteria established in Intermal Control—Inegrated Framework ssued by the
Committee of Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway Commission (COS0).

We have also audited, in accordance with the standards of the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board (Undted
States), the consolidated balanoe sheets and the related consolidated statements of operations, shareholders” equity,
and cash flows of the Company. and our report dated February 28, 2012 expressed an unqualified opinion.

5" Schnebder Downs & Co.. Inc.
Columbus, Ohio

February 28, 2012

32



ITEM 3B. OTHER INFORMATION
Mo,

PART 111
ITEM 10. DIRECTORS, EXECUTIVE OFFICERS AND CORPORATE GOVERNANCE.

The information required by this item is included under the captions “ELECTION OF DIRECTORS" and
“INFORMATION CONCERNING THE BOARD OF DIRECTORS AND CORPORATE GOVERNANCE.”
INFORMATION CONMCERNING EXECUTIVE OFFICERS,” and "SECTION 16(a) BENEFICIAL OWNERSHIP
REPORTING COMPLIANCE” in the Company’s Proxy Statement for the 2012 Annual Meeting of Shareholders
(the “Proxy Statement”) to be held on May 9, 2012, 1o be filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission
Eﬂ,ﬁm i Regulation 14A promulgasted under the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, is incorporated herein by

I nee,

We have adopted a Code of Business Conduct and Ethics that applies to our directors, officers and all employees.
The Code of Business Conduct and Ethics is posted on our website at www.rockyboots.com, The Code of Business
Conduct and Ethics may be obdained free of charge by writing 1o Rocky Brands, Inc., Attn: Chief Financial Officer,
39 East Canal Street. Nelsonwville, Ohio 45764,

ITEM 11. EXECUTIVE COMPENSATION.

The information required by this item is included under the captions “EXECUTIVE COMPENSATION" and

"COMPENSATION COMMITTEE INTERLOCKS AND INSIDER PARTICIPATION" in the Compamy’s Proxy
Statement, and is incorporated herein by reference.

ITEM 12. SECURITY OWNERSHIP OF CERTAIN BENEFICIAL OWNERS AND MANAGEMENT
AND RELATED SHAREHOLDER MATTERS.

The infarmation required by this item is included under the caption "PRINCIPAL HOLDERS OF VOTING
SECURITIES - OWNERSHIP OF COMMON S5TOCK BY MANAGEMENT,” °- OWNERSHIF OF COMMON
STOCK BY PRINCIPAL SHAREHOLDERS,” and "EQUITY COMPENSATION PLAN INFORMATION,” in the
Company’s Proxy Statement, and is incorporated herein by reference.

ITEM 13. CERTAIN RELATIONSHIPS AND RELATED TRANSACTIONS AND DIRECTOR
INDEPENDENCE.

The information required by this ltem ks included under the caption “COMPENSATION COMMITTEE

INTERLOCKS AND INSIDER PARTICIPATION COMPENSATION COMMITTEE" and INTERLOCKS AND

INSIDER PARTICIFATION/RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS" in the Company’s Proxy Statement. and is

incorporated herein by reference.

ITEM 14. PRINCIFAL ACCOUNTING FEES AND SERVICES.

The information required by this item is included under the caption "REPORT OF THE AUDIT COMMITTEE OF
THE BOARD OF DIRECTORS" in the Company”s Proxy Statement. and is incorporated herein by reference.
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PART IV

ITEM 15. EXHIBITS AND FINANCIAL STATEMENT SCHEDULES

a)

THE FOLLOWING DOCUMENTS ARE FILED A5 PART OF THIS REPORT:

(1) The following Financial Statements are included in this Anmual Report on Form 10-K on the papes
inclicated below:

Reparts of Independent Registered Public Acoounting Firme............o...oooen, F-1
Consolidated Balance Sheets as of December 31, 2011 and 2000, .. .. ...oeeevee..... F-Z2-F3

Consolidated Statements of Operations for the years ended
December 31, 2001, 2000, and 2009, ...ocvriiin e e e e F-4

Consolidated Siatements of Shareholders’ Equity for the
years ended December 31, 2011, 2010, and 2009. ... F-5

Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows for the years ended
December 31. 2001, 2010, and 2009..........ccccoiciiiiiii F-G

Motes 1o Consalidated Financial Sastements for the vears ended
December 31, 2001, 2000, and 2008, .. ..oooooiiii e F-T- F-20

{2) The following financial statement schedule for the years ended December 31, 2011, 2010, and 2009 is
incheded in this Annual Report on Form 10-K and should be read in conjunction with the Consolidated
Financial Statements contained in the Annual Report.

Schedule 11 -- Consolidated Valuation and Qualifying Accounts.

Schedules not listed above are omitted because of the absence of the conditions under which they are

required or because the required information is included in the Consolidated Financial Statements ar
the modes thereto,

(3 Exhibits:

Exhibit

Rumber  Description

31 Second Amended and Restated Articles of Incorporation of the Company (incorporated by
reference to Exhibit 3.1 to the Company s Annual Report on Form 10-K for the fiscal year ended
December 31, 2006).

3.2 Amendment to Company’'s Secomd Amended and Resiated Articles of Incorporation of the
Company (incorporated by reference 1o Exhibit 3.2 1o the Company’s Annual Report of Form 10-
K for the fiscal yvear ended December 31, 2006).

33 Amended and Restated Code of Regulations of the Company (Incorporated by reference to Exhibit
3.2 to the Registration Statement on Form 5-1, registration number 33-56118 (the “Registration
Statement”}).

1.1 Form of Stock Certificate for the Company (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 4.1 to the
Registration Statement).

4.2 Articles Fourth, Fifth, Sixth, Seventh, Eighth, Eleventh, Twellth, and Thirteenth of the Company’s
Amended and Restated Articles of Incorporation (see Exhibit 3.1).

4.3 Articles 1 and 11 of the Company’s Code of Regulations. (see Exhibit 3.3).
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10.1

1.2

10.3

1.4

1.5

10.6

10.7

108

10.89

10,10

10,12

10,13

10.14

10.15

Deferred Compensation Agreement, dated May 1, 1984, between Rocky Shoes & Boots Co, and
Mike Brooks (Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.3 to the Registration Statement).

Information concerning Deferred Compensation Agreements substantially similar to Exhibit 10.1
(incorporated by reference (o Exhibit 10.4 w the Begistration Statement).

Indemnification Agreement, dated December 12, 1992, between the Company and Mike Brooks
(incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.10 to the Registration Statement).

Information concerning Indemnification Agreements substantially similar to Exhibin 10.
(incorporated by reference (o Exhibit 1008 w the Company s Annual Report on Form 10-K for the
fiscal year ended December 31, 2003).

Amended and Restated Lease Agreement, dated March 1, 2002, between Rocky Shoes & Boots
Co. and William Brooks Real Estate Company regarding Nelsonville faclory (incorporated by
reference to Exhibit 10.11 to the Company’s Annual Report on Form 10-K for the fiscal year
ended December 31, 2002).

Lease Contract dated December 16, 1999, between Lifestvle Foolwear, Inc. and The Puerio Rico
Industrial Development Company (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.14 o the Company's
Annual Beport on Form 10-K for the fiscal year ended December 31, 2004).

Company’s 2004 Stock Incentive Plan (incorporated by reference 1o the Company s Definitive
Proxy Statement for the 2004 Annual Meeting of Shareholders, held on May 11, 2004, filed on
April 6, 2004).

Eenewal of Lease Contract, dated June 24, 2004, between Five Siar Enterprises Lid. and the
Dominican Republic Corporation for Industrial Development (incorporated by reference to Exhibit
1030w the Company's Annual Report on Form 10-K for the fiscal vear ended December 31,
2004).

Second Amendment to Lease Agreement, dated as of July 26, 2004, between Rocky Shoes &
Boats, Inc. and the William Brooks Real Estate Comipany (incorporated by reference to Exhibit
10.1 to the Company s Quarterly Report on Form 10-0) for the quarter ended September 30,
2004).

Form of Option Award Agreement under the Company’s 2004 Stock Incentive Plan (incorporated
by reference 1o Exhibit 10.1 to the Current Report on Form 8-K dated January 3. 2005, filed with
the Securities and Exchange Commission on January 7, 2003).

Form of Restricted Stock Award Agreement relating to the Retainer Shares issued under the
Company’s 2004 Stock Incentive Plan (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.2 to the Current
Report on Form 8-K dated January 3, 2005, filed with the Securitles and Exchange Commission
on January 7, 20035).

Amendment to the Rocky Brands, Inc. Agreement with J. Michael Brooks (dated April 16, 1985).
dated December 22, 2008 (incorposated by reference to Exhdbit 10035 1o the Company's Annual
Report on Form 10-Kfor the fiscal year ended December 31, 2008).

First Amendment to the Rocky Brands, Inc. 2004 Stock Incentive Plan. dated December 30, 2008
(incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.36 to the Company’s Annual Report on Form 10-K for
the fiscal year ended December 31, 2008).

Employment Agreement, dated June 12, 2008, between the Company and Mike Brooks
(incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.2 o the Company s Currend Repart on Form 8-K dated
June 12, 2009, filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission on June 18, 2004).

Employment Agreement, dated June 12, 2008, between the Company and David Sharp
(incorporated by reference to Exhibit 1001 to the Company s Current Repon on Form 3-K dated
June 12, 2009, filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission on June 18, 2004).
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10.16

1017

10,18

1.9

21

23
24"

311"
3.2

32..

1o1*

Employment Agreement, dated June 12, 2008, between the Company and James E. McDonald
{incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.3 to the Company's Current Report on Form 8-K dated
June 12, 2009, filed with the Securities and Exclange Commission on June 18, 2009,

Description of Maerial Terms of Rocky Bramds, Inc.’s Bonus Plan for Fiscal Year Ending
December 31, 2011 (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 1024 to the Company s Annual Report
on Form 10-K for the fiscal vear ended December 31, 2010),

Revolving Credit, Guaranty, and Security Agreement, dated October 20, 20010, among Rocky
Brands, Inc., Lehigh Outfitters, LLC, Lifestyle Footwear, Inc.. Rocky Brands Wholesale LLC,
Rocky Brands Intermational, LLC, and Rocky Canada, Inc., as borrowers. amd the financial
institutions party thereto as lenders, and PNC Bank, National Association as agent for the lenders
(incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.28 o the Company”s Annual Repon on Farm 10-K for
the fiscal year ended December 31, 2010).

Description of Material Terms of Rocky Brands, Inc.’s Bonus Plan for Fiscal Year Ending
December 31, 2012,

Subsidiaries of the Company (incorporated by reference 1o Exhibit 21 o the Company”s Annual
Report on Form 10-K for the fiscal year ended December 31, 2006).

Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm's Consent of Schneider Downs & Co., Inc.
Powers of Attorney.

Fule 13a-14(a) Certification of Principal Executive Officer.

Rule 13a-14(a) Centification of Principal Financial Officer.

Section 1350 Centification of Principal Executive Officer and Principal Financial Officer.
Financial Statement Schedule.

Antached as Exhibits 101 to this report are the following financial statements from the Company s
Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 2011 formatied in XBRL
("eXiensible Business Reporting Language*): (i) the Consolidated Balance Sheets, (i) the

Consolidated Statements of Income, (ill) the Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows, and {vi)
related notes 1o these financial statements tagged as blocks of text.

* Filed with this Annual Report on Form 10-K.
** Furnished with this Annual Report on Form 10-K,
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SIGNATURES

Pursuant o the requirements of Section 13 or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, the Registram
has duly caused this report to be signed on its behalf by the undersigned, thereunto duly authorized.

ROCKY BRANDS, INC.
Date: February 28, 2012 By:_/s/ James E. McDonald

James E, MeDonald, Executive Viee
President and Chief Financial Odfficer

Pursuant to the requirements of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, this report has been signed below by
the following persons on behall of e Registrant and in the capacities indicated on the dates indicated.

Signature Tithe Date
fa/ David N, Sharp President and Chiefl Executive Officer February 28, 2012
David M. Sharp and Director (Principal Executive Officer)
{3/ James E. McDonald Executive Vice President and February 28, 2012
James E. McDonald Chief Financlal Officer

(Principal Financial and Accouming Officer)

{3 Mike Brooks Chairman and Director February 28, 2012
Mike Brooks
* CURTIS A, LOVELAND Secretary and Director February 28, 2012

Curtis A. Loveland

* 1. PATRICK CAMPBELL Director February 28, 2012
1. Parrick Camphbell

*GLENN E. CORLETT Director February 28, 2012
Glenn E. Corlett

> MICHAEL L. FINN Director February 28, 2012
Michael L. Finn

* G, COURTNEY HANING Director February 28, 2012
G. Courtney Haning

* HARLEY E. ROUDA Director February 28, 2012
Harley E. Rouda

> JAMES L STEWART Director February 28, 2012

Jarmes L. Stewan

* By: s/ David N, Sharp
David M. Sharp, Attomey-in-Fact
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AND SUBSIDIARIES
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Consolidated Statements of Shareholders” Equity for the Years Ended
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MNotes 1o Consolidated Financial Statements
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REPORT QF INDEPENDENT REGISTERED PUBLIC ACCOUNTING FIRM

To the Board of Directors and Shareholders of Rocky Brands, Inc.:

We have audited the accompanying consolidated balance sheets of Rocky Brands, Inc. and subsidiaries (the
"Company”) as of December 31, 2011 and 2010, and the related consolidated statements of operations,
shareholders” equity, and cash flows for the years ended December 31, 20011, 20010 and 2009, Our audits also
included the financial statement schedule listed in the index at liem 15(a)(2). These financial staterments and
schedule are the responsibility of the Company’s management. Our responsibility is to express an opinion on
these consolidated financial statements and schedule based on our audits.

We conducted our audits in accordance with the standards of the Public Company Accounting Oversight
Board (United States). Those standards require that we plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable
assurance about whether the consolidated financial statements are free of material misstatement. An audit
includes examining, on a test basis, evidence supporting the amounts and disclosures in the consolidated
financial statements, An audit also includes assessing the accounting principles used and significant estimates
made by management, as well as evaluating the overall consolidated financial statement presentation. We
believe that our audits provide a reasonable basis for our opinion.

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements referred to above present fairly. in all material respects,
the consolidated financial position of the Company and subsidiaries as of December 31, 2011, and 2010, and
the results of its operations and its cash Mows for the years ended December 31, 2011, 2010 and 2009, in
conformity with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America. Also, in our
opinion, the related financial statement schedule, when considered in relation to the consolidated financial
statements, as a whole, presenis fairly, in all material respects, the information set forth therein.

We also have audited, in accordance with the standards of the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board
{(United States). the Company's internal control over financial reporting as of December 31, 2011, based on
criteria established in fatermal Controf—Integrated Framework issued by the Committee of Sponsoring
Organizations of the Treadway Commission (CO50), and our report dated February 28, 2012 expressed an
unqualified opinion.

faf Schoetder Downs & Co,, Inc.
Columbus, Ohio
February 28, 2012



ROCKY BRANDS, INC,
AND SUBSIDIARIES

CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEETS

CURRENT ASSETS:
Cash and cash equivalenis
Trade receivables - net
Other receivables
Inventories

Income tax receivable
Deferred income taxes
Prepaid expenses

Total current assets

FIXED ASSETS - net

IDENTIFIED INTANGIBLES
OTHER ASSETS

TOTAL ASSETS

See notes to consolidated financial statements

- &

December 31,
2011 2000
§ 3650291 § 4362531
45,008,793 47,593,807
946,686 911.103
65,019,048 58.852 556
1,164 664 -
1,154,040 1,218,101
2,961,941 1.793.852
119,505,463 114,731,950
23,557,102 22129282
30,493,107 30,495,485
210,293 1222712
§ 174065965 § 168.579.429




ROCKY BRANDS, INC.
AND SUBSIDIARIES

CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEETS

December 31,
2011 2010
CURRENT LIABILITIES:
Accounts payable § 5696383 5 902485
Current maturities - long term debt - 487 480
Accrued expenses:
Salarics and wages 2,310,906 2,702,166
Taxes - other 609,992 590.217
Accrued freight 633.24 781.593
Commissions 709,201 669,389
Current portion of pension funding - 680,000
Income taxes payable - 422,229
Other 970,806 1211816
Total current liabilities 10,930,522 16,575,741
LONG TERM DEBT - less curment maturities 35,000,000 34,608,338
DEFERRED LIABILITIES:
Deferred income taxes 10,987,395 9,374,685
Pension liability - 2,839.203
Other deferred liabilities 488437 177814
TOTAL LIABILITIES 57,406,354 63,575.871
COMMITMENTS AND CONTINGENCIES
SHAREHOLDERS EQUITY:
Preferred stock, Series A, no par value, $.06 stated value; none
outstanding - -
Commen stock. no par value; 25,000,000 shares authorized;
outstanding; 2011 - 7,489,995 and 2010 - 7,426,787 and
additional paid-in capital 69,572,270 69,052.101
Accumulated other comprehensive loss - (2,828.989)
Retained eamings 47,087.341 38,780,446
Total shareholders' equity 116,659,611 105,003,558
TOTAL LIABILITIES AND SHAREHOLDERS EQUITY § 174,065,965 § 168579429

S nodes to corsolidated Francial statements,
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ROCKY BRANDS, INC.
AND SUBSIDIARIES

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF OPERATIONS

NET SALES

COST OF GOODS SOLD
GROSS MARGIN

OPFERATING EXPENSES
Selling, general and administrative experses
Restnacturing chasges
Pension termination charge
Total operating expenses
INCOME FROM OPERATIONS

OTHER INCOME AND (EXPENSES):
Inberest expense
Other - net
Total other - net

INCOME BEFORE INCOME TAXES

INCOME TAX EXPENSE

NET INCOME

NET INCOME PER SHARE
Blasic
Dilused

WEIGHTED AVERAGE NUMBER OF
COMMON SHARES OUTSTANDING
Basic

Diiluted

See notes o consolidated financial siatemenis

Years Ended December 31,

2o 2o 2009

5 219,590.006 § 252,792,263 § 229485575

151,668.341 163,419,545 144.528.215
87,930,755 89,372,714 B.557.356
64,852 606 72,303,250 75,072,208

. . 711,169
5,280,908 - -
75,133,604 72,303,259 15,783,377
12,797.061 I7.060.455 B773979
(37.511) (6.464.445) (7.500,513)
216914 652,213 377,836
(762.597) [3.812.236) (6.922.657)
12,034,464 11,257,219 1,851,322
3,727,569 3373487 G76,515
§ 8306805 §  T.683.732 5 1.174.807
5111 5114 021
5111 $1.14 50.21
1.486.655 6,747,847 5,551,382
7487106 6,764,190 5,551,382




ROCKY BRANDS, INC.
AND SUBSIDIARIES

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF SHAREHOLDERS' EQUITY

Coommen Siock and Accumulated
Additienal Pakd-in Capdial Chilstr Tadal
Shares Camprehensive Retainid Sharcholders’
Cutstambing Ansmnt Loss Earnings Exmity

BALAMCE - December 31. 3008 5516898 § 54250084 % (3222215 § 299521907 §  B0949.756
YEAR ENDED DECEMEER 31. 2004
Net income 1174807 1174807
Change in pension liability, et of tx benefi

al 52,876 5071 5,071
Compehensive inoome 1.179,878
Sinck compensation expense 037 158 ATT 158477
Sinck ssued and options exercised including

relsted iax benefits 29,250 185 563 189,563
BALAMCE - December 31, 2004 5,576,465 54.598.104 Z17.144 306714 B1.657.552
YEAR ENDED DECEMEBEER 31. 3010
Net income 7681732 T.683,732
Change in pensbon liability, met of tax benefi

af $221.439 IBE.155 368,155
Comprehensive income 8.071,B8T
Siock Bsuamce, e ol Bsuance costs 1, N0, a0 14,105,600 14, 105, 600
Siock compensation expenss 16,072 128,900 129,900
Stock issued and options exercised including

relsted iax benefits 34,250 2184497 218,487
BALAMCE - December 31. 2010 TAZG 7T § 6052101 § (2.B25.08%) § J3E.7E0.446 § 105003 558
YEAR ENDED DECEMBER 31. 2011
Met income B, 306,895 B304, 505
Termination of persion Hability, net of tax

benefits of $1.092.258 2. B2 580 2,528,959
Comprehensive incoams: 11.135,B84
Siock compensation expense 12,208 122 500 132,500
Siock ssued and options exercised including

relsted iax benefits 51,000 397 66D 307 669
BALAMNCE - December 31. 2001 TA485.%5 § 6O5T22T0 8 - § AT 0ET. 41§ 116659610

F-5



ROCKY BRANDS, INC.
AND SUBSIDIARIES

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS

Years Ended December 31,
2011 2010 2004
CASH FLOWS FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES:
Pt incname 8,306 805 % TBE1TIZ £ 1174807
Adjustments (o reconclle net Income to net cash provided
by operating actibdities:
Depreciation and amonizstion 5659005 56IRTTS 6,337 942
Diefermed Income taxes a84.512 3F9. 200 22111
Diefermel compersation amd pension 416,572 {147.655) (178,169)
Loss on disposal of fised assets 531244 T2.545 40,710
Stock compensation expense 122,500 120,500 158477
Write-ofl of defernixd linancing costs due (o repay el - 1,503,007 -
Change in assets and Nabilitbes:
Reoehvables 2,549,431 (1, 156, T05) 14.219.527
Invenorics (6. 166,402 (3432 .085) 14881707
Incomi tax recclvable (1.164,664) = (75.481)
Other curnent aswels (T6E,DED) (484, 714) 06 08
Chther msses TIZ4190 T44.409 1075, 734
Accounts pay able (2922 4100 1 834,607 (3.127.202)
Avcerued and ot her Balyili jes (853 245) 1,370,193 THY 855
Med cash provided by operating activities 6020, 558 14055201 S3.017.000
CASH FLOWS FROM INVESTING ACTIVITIES:
Furchase of (ad assets (7,550, 846) {4,743 453) (4.918.816)
Procesds from sales of faed assets 62,205 28560 41.424
Imvestment in trademarks and patenis {46, 05d) (25.693) [79.458)
Met cash used in investing actbvities (7543649 {4, 740,585) (4,556 850)
CASH FLOWS FROM FINANCING ACTIVITIES:
Proceeds from revolving credit Tacilivy 76376444 231,819,547 214198296
Repayments of revolving oredit faciliny (T4.474.27TT) [211.803.5535) (245.865,.589)
Repayments of long-term debi (1.997 985) (40,51 1.8710) (480,724)
Diebt financing costs - (577.4435) (1.515.9106)
Bssuance of common stock, il of Bsuanoe cosls . 14, 105,600 .
Procesdts rom esercise of stock oplions AT AT 1,620 164,532
Tax bencflt related 1o stock opthons 26,242 ZT8TT 25,0031
Met cash prowided by (used in) financing activit s 301,851 6. 748.177) (33,474,370}
(DECREASE) INCREASE IN CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS [T1Z,2400 2565438 [2.514.220)
CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS:
BECIMMNING OF PERIOD 4362531 I.757.0:03 4311313
EXMD OF PERIOD 3650201 5 4362530 £ 1797093

See nides 1o consolidaied linancial statements




ROCKY BRANDS, INC.
AND SUBSIDIARIES

NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
FOR THE YEARS ENDED DECEMBER 31, 2011, 2010 AND 2009

1. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

Principles of Consolidation - The accompanying consolidated financial statements include the
accounts of Rocky Brands, Inc. (*Rocky”) and its wholly-owned subsidiaries, Lifestyle Footwear,
Inc. ("Lifestyle”). Five Star Enterprises Ltd. (“Five Star”), Rocky Canada. Inc. ("Rocky Canada®),
Rocky Brands Wholesale, LLC, Rocky Brands International, LLC and Lehigh Outfitters, LLC,
collectively referred to as the “Company.” All inter-company transactions have been eliminated.

Business Activity - We are a leading designer. manufacturer and marketer of premium quality
footwear marketed under a portfolio of well recognized brand names including Rocky Qutdoor Gear,
Georgla Boot, Durango, and Lehigh. Our brands have a long history of representing high quality,
comfortable, functional and durable footwear and our products are organized around four target
markets: outdoor, work, duty and western. In addition, as part of our strategy of outfinting
consumers from head-to-toe, we market complementary branded apparel and accessorles that we
believe leverage the strength and positioning of each of our brands.

Owr products are distributed through three distinct business segments: wholesale, retail and military.
In our whaolesale business, we distribute our products through a wide range of distribution channels
representing over ten thousand retail store locations in the ULS. and Canada. Our wholesale channels
vary by product line and include sporting goods stores, outdoor retailers, independent shoe retailers,
hardware stores, catalogs, mass merchants, uniform stores, farm store chains, specialty safety stores
and other specialty retailers. Our retail business includes direct sales of our products (o consumers
through our Lehigh mobile and retail stores (including a fleet of 39 rucks, supported by 3 small
warchouses that include retail stores, which we refer to as mini-stores), our Rocky outlet store and
our websites, We also sell footwear under the Rocky label to the U.S. military.

We did not have any single customer account for more than 10% of consolidated net sales in 2011,
2010 or 2009,

Estimates - The preparation of financial statements in conformity with accounting principles
generally accepted in the United States of America requires management to make estimates and
assumptions that affect the reported amounis of assets and labilities and disclosure of contingent
assets and liabilities at the date of the financial statements and the reported amounts of revenues and
expenses during the reporting period. Actual results could differ from those estimates.

Cash and Cash Equivalents - We consider all highly liguid investments purchased with original
maturities of three months or less to be cash equivalents. Our cash and cash equivalents are
primarily held in five banks. Balances may exceed federally insured limits.

Trade Recefvables - Trade recelvables are presented net of the related allowance for uncollectible

accounts of approximately $556,000 and $868,000 at December 31, 2011 and 2010, respectively.
The allowanece for uncollectible accounts is calculated based on the relative age and size of trade

receivable balances. Our credit policy generally provides that trade receivables will be deemed
uncollectible and written-off once we have pursued all reasonable efforts to collect on the account.



Concentration of Credit Risk - We have significant transactions with a large number of customers,
No customer represented 10% of rade receivables - net as of December 31, 2011 and 2010, Our

exposure to credit risk is impacted by the economic climate affecting the retail shoe industry. We
manage this risk by performing ongoing credit evaluations of our customers and maintain reserves
for potential uncollectible accounts.

Supplier and Labor Concenirations - We purchase raw materials from a number of domestic and
foreign sources. We currently buy the majority of our waterproof fabric, a component used in a
significant portion of our shoes and boots, from one supplier (W.L. Gore & Associates, Inc.). We
have had a relationship with this supplier for over 20 years and have no reason to believe that such
relationship will not continue.

We produce a portion of our shoes and boots in our Dominican Republic operation and in our Puerto
Rico operation. We are not aware of any governmental or economic restrictions that would alter
these current operations.

We source a significant portion of our footwear, apparel and gloves from manufacturers in the Far
East, primarily China. We are not aware of any governmental or economic restrictions that would
alter our current sourcing operations.

Inventories - Inventories are valued at the lower of cost, determined on a first-in, first-out (FIFO)
basis, or market, Reserves are established for inventories when the net realizable value (NRV) is
deemed to be less than its cost based on our periodic estimates of NRV.

Fixed Assets - The Company records fixed assets at historical cost and generally utilizes the
straight-line method of computing depreciation for financial reporting purposes over the estimated
useful lives of the assets as follows:

Years
Buildings and improvements a-40
Machinery and equipment 3-8
Furniture and fixtures 3-8
Lasts, dies. and patterns 3

For income tax purposes, the Company generally computes depreciation utilizing accelerated
methods.

Identified intangible assets - [dentified intangible assets consist of indefinite lived trademarks and
definite lived irademarks. patenis and customer lists. Indefinite lived intangible assets are not
amortized.

If events or circumstances change, a determination is made by management, in accordance with the
accounting standard for “Property, Plant and Equipment” o ascertain whether property. equipment
amd certain finite-lived intangibles have been impaired based on the sum of expected future
undiscounted cash flows from operating activities. I the estimated net cash Nows are less than the
carrying amount of such assets, we will recognize an impairment loss In an amount necessary o
write down the assets to fair value as determined from expected future discounted cash flows.

In accordance with the accounting standard for “Intangibles — Goodwill and Other”, we test

intangible assets with indefinite lives for impairment annually or when conditions indicate
impairment may have occurred, We perform such testing of our indefinite-lived intangible assets in
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the fourth quarter of each year or as events occur or circumstances change that would more likely
than not reduce the fair value of a reporting unit below ils carrying amount.

Advertising- We expense advertising costs as Iincurred. Advertising expense was approximately
$5.864,000, $5,069,000, and 35,247,000 for 2011, 2010 and 2009, respectively.

Revenue Recognition -Revenue and related cost of goods sold are recognized at the time products
are shipped to the customer and title transfers. Revenue is recorded net of estimated sales discounis
amnd returns based upon specific customer agreements and historical trends.

Shipping Costs - In accordance with the accounting standard for “Revenue Recognition,” all
shipping costs billed to customers have been included in net sales. Shipping costs associated with
those billed to customers and included in selling, general and administrative costs totaled
approximately 56,464.000, 56,112,000 and $5.547.000 in 2011, 2010 and 2009, respectively. Our
gross profit may not be comparable to other entities whose shipping and handling is a component of
cost of sales.

Per Share Information - Basic net income per common share is computed based on the welghted
average number of commaon shares outstanding during the period. Diluted net income per common
share is computed similarly but includes the dilutive effect of stock options. A reconciliation of the
shares used in the basic and diluted Income per share computations Is as follows:

Years Ended December 31,
2011 2010 2009
Basic - weighted average shares outstanding T 486,655 6,747 B4T 5,551,182
Drilutive securities - stock options 241 16,343
Diluted - weighted average shares outstanding 7487196 6,764,190 5,551 182
Anti-Dilutive securities - stock optlons 140,027 206,538 3av.0n3l

Comprehensive Income (Loss) - Comprehensive income (loss) includes changes in equity that result
from transactions and economic events from non-owner sources, Comprehensive income (loss) is
composed of two subsets - net income (loss) and other comprehensive income (loss).

Fair Value Measurements - The fair value accounting standard defines fair value, establishes a
framework for measuring fair value, and expands disclosures about fair value measurements. This
standard clarifies how to measure fair value as permitted under other accounting pronouncements.

The fair value accounting standard defines fair value as the exchange price that would be received
for an asset or paid to transfer a lability (an exit price) in the principal or most advantageous market
for the asset or liability in an orderly transaction between market participants at the measurement
date. This standard also establishes a three-level fair value hierarchy that prioritizes the inputs used
to measure fair value. This hierarchy requires entities to maximize the use of observable inputs and
mi?h‘nize the use of unobservable inputs. The three levels of inputs used to measure fair value are
as follows:

o Level 1 - Quoted prices in active markets for identical assets or liabilities.
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» Level 2 - Observable inputs other than quoted market prices included in Level 1, such as

quoted prices for similar assets and liabilities in active markets; quoted prices for identical or
similar assets and liabilities in markets that are not active; or other inputs that are observable

or can be corroborated by observable market data.

» Level 3 - Unobservable inputs that are supported by little or no market activity and that are
significant to the fair value of the assets or liabilities. This includes certain pricing models,
discounted cash flow methodologies and similar techniques that use significant unobservable

inputs.

Reclassifications - Certain amounts in the accompanying financial statements and footnotes thereto
have been reclassified to conform to the current period’s presentation.

Recenily Adopted Accounting Pronouncements

In September 2009, the Financial Accounting Standards Board (FASB) issued an accounting
standards update (ASU), Kevenwe Recognition - Multiple Delfverable Revenue Arrangememis. This
update addresses how to determine whether an arrangement involving multiple deliverables contains
maore than one unit of accounting and how 1o allocate the consideration to each unit of

accounting. This update eliminates the use of the residual value method for determining allocation
of arrangement consideration and allows the use of an entity's best estimate to determine the selling
price if vendor specific objective evidence and third-party evidence cannot be determined. This
update also requires additional disclosure to provide both qualitative and quantitative information
regarding the significant judgments made in applying this update. In addition, for each reporting
period in the initial year of adoption, this update requires disclosure of the amount of revenue
recognized subject to the measurement requirements of this update and the amount of revenue that
would have been recognized if the related transactions were subject 1o the measurement
requirements prior to this update. This update is effective for revenue arrangements entered into or
materially modified in fiscal years beginning after June 15, 2010. The adoption of this standard did
not have a material effect on our consolidated financial statements.

In December 2010, the FASB issued ASU No. 2010-28, Intangibles - Goodwill and Other (Topic
350): When 1o Perform Step 2 of the Goodwill impairment Test for Reporting Units with Zero or
Negative Carrying Amounis. This ASU reflects the decision reached in EITF Issue No. 10-A. The
amendments in this ASU modify Step 1 of the goodwill impairment test for reporting units with zero
or negative carrying amounts. For those reporting units, an entity is required to perform Step 2 of
the goodwill impairment test if it is more likely than not that a goodwill impairment exists. In
determining whether it is more likely than not that a goodwill impairment exists, an entity should
consider whether there are any adverse qualitative factors indicating that an impairment may exist.
The qualitative factors are consistent with the existing guidance and examples, which require that
goodwill of a reporting unit be tested for impairment between annual tests if an event occurs or
circumstances change that would more likely than not reduce the fair value of a reporting unit below
its carrying amount. For public entities, the amendments in this ASU are effective for fiscal years.
and interim periods within those years, beginning after December 15, 2010. The adoption of this
standard did not have a material effect on our consolidated financial statements.

In December 2010, the FASE issued ASU 2010-29, Business Combinations (Topic 805): Disclosure
of Supplementary Pro Forma Information for Business Combinations. This ASU reflects the
decision reached in EITF Issue No. 10-G. The amendments in this ASU affect any public entity as
defined by Topic 803, Business Combination that enters into business combinations that are material
on an individual or aggregate basis. The amendments in this ASU specify that If a public entity

F-10



presents comparative financial statements, the entity should disclose revenue and eamings of the
combined entity as though the business combination(s) that occurred during the current year had
occurred as of the beginning of the comparable prior annual reporting period only. The amendments
also expand the supplemental pro forma disclosures o include a description of the nature and
amount of material, nonrecurring pro forma adjustments directly aitributable to the business
combination included in the reported pro forma revenue and earnings. The amendments are
effective prospectively for business combinations for which the acquisition date is on or after the
beginning of the first annual reporting period beginning on or afier December 15, 2010. The
adoption of this standard did not have a material effect on our consolidated financial statements.

In April 2011, the FASB issued ASU No. 2011-02, Receivables (Topic 310): A Creditor’s
Determination of Whether a Restructuring Is a Troubled Debt Restructuring. The FASE believes the
guidance in this ASU will improve financial reporting by creating greater consistency in the way
GAAP is applied for various types of debt restructurings. The ASU clarifies which loan
maodifications constitute troubled debt restructurings. It is intended to assist creditors in determining
whether a modification of the terms of a receivable meets the criteria to be considered a roubled
debt restructuring. both for purposes of recording an impairment loss and for disclosure of troubled
debt restructurings. In evaluating whether a restructuring constitutes a troubled debt restructuring. a
creditor must separately conclude that both of the following exist: (a) the restructuring constilutes a
concession; and (5) the debtor is experiencing financial difficulties. The amendments to FASE
Accounting Standards Codificationr™ (Codification) Topic 310, Receivables, clarify the guidance on
a creditor's evaluation of whether it has granted a concession and whether a debtor is experiencing
financial difficulties. The guidance was effective for interim and annual periods beginning on or
after June 15, 2011, and applies retrospectively to restructurings occurring on or after the beginning
of the fiscal year of adoption. The adoption of this standard did not have a material effect on our
consolidated financial statements.

Accounting standards not yet adopted

In May 2011. the FASE issued ASU No. 2011-04, Fair Value Measurement (Topic 820):
Amendments to Achieve Common Fair Value Measurement and Disclosure Requirements in U.S.
GAAP and IFRSs. This ASUrepresents the converged guidance of the FASE and the IASB (the
Boards) on fair value measurement. The collective efforts of the Boards and their staffs, reflected in
ASUZ2011-04, have resulted in common requirements for measuring fair value and for disclosing
information about fair value measurements, including a consistent meaning of the term °fair value.”
The Boards have concluded the common requirements will result in greater comparability of falr
value measurements presented and disclosed in financial statements prepared in accordance with
LS. CGAAP and IFRSs. The amendments in this ASUare to be applied prospectively. For public
entities, the amendments are effective during interim and annual periods beginning afterDecember
15, 2011.Early application by public entities is not permitted. We are currently assessing the
potential impact of the adoption of this standard on our consolidated financial statements and related
disclosures.

In June 2011, the FASB issued ASU No. 2011-05, Comprebensive Income (Topic 220): Preseniation
of Comprehensive Income.Under the amendments to Topic 220, an entity has the option to present
the total of comprehensive income, the components of net income and the components of other
comprehensive income either in a single continuous statement of comprehensive income or in two
separate but consecutive statements. In both choices, an entity is required to present each component
of net income along with total net income, each component of other comprehensive income along
with a tatal for other comprehensive income, and a total amount for comprehensive income. This
update eliminates the option to present the components of other comprehensive income as part of the
statement of changes in stockholders’ equity. The amendments in this update do not change the items
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that must be reported in other comprehensive income or when an item of other comprehensive
income must be reclassified to net income. The amendments in this update should be applied
retrospectively. For publicentities, the amendments are effective for fiscal years, and interim periods
withinthose years, beginning after December 15, 2011.Early adoption is permitted, because
compliance with the amendments is alreadypermitted. The amendments do not require any transition
disclosures. We are currently assessing the potential impact of the adoption of this standard on our
consolidated financial statements and related disclosures.

In September 2011, the FASE issued ASU No. 2011-08, Intangibles - Goodwill and Other - (Topic
350)Testing Goodwill for Impairment. The amendments in this update will allow an entity to first
assess qualitative factors to determine whether it is necessary to perform the two-step quantitative
goodwill impairment test. Under these amendments, an entity would not be required to calculate the
fair value of a reporting unit unless the entity determines, based on a qualitative assessment, that it is
more likely than not that its fair value is less than its carrying amount. The amendments include a
number of events and circumstances for an entity to consider in conducting the qualitative
assessment. The amendments are effective for annual and interim goodwill impairment
testsperformed for fiscal years beginning after December 15, 2011. Early adoption ispermitied,
including for annual and interim goodwill impairment tests performedas of a date before September
15, 2011, if an entity’s financial statements for themost recent annual or interim period have not yet
been issued or, for nonpublicentities, have not yet been made available for issuance.We are currently
assessing the potential impact of the adoption of this standard on our consolidated financial
statements and related disclosures.

In September 2011, the FASB issued ASU No. 2011-9, Compensation - Retirement Benelfits -
Multiemployer Plans (Subtopic 715-80) Disclosures abow an Employer’s Participation in a
Multiemployer Plan. The amendments in this update require additional disclosures about an
employer’s participation in a multiemployer plan. For public entities, the amendments in this Update
are effective for annualperiods for fiscal years ending after December 15, 2011, with early
adoptionpermitted. The amendments should be applied retrospectively for all prior
periodspresented We are currently assessing the potential impact of the adoption of this standard on
our consolidated financial statements and related disclosures.

In December 2011, the FASB issued ASU No. 2011-12, Comprehensive [ncome {Topic 220):
Deferral of the Effective Date for Amendments to the Presentation of Reclassifications of ftems Out
of Accumulated Ocher Comprehensive Income in Accounting Standards Update No. 201 1-05.The
amendments in this update supersede centaln pending paragraphs in Accounting Standards
UpdateNo. 2011-05, Comprehensive Income (Topic 2200 Presentation of Comprehensive Income, to
effectively defer only those changes in Update 201 1-05 that relate to the presentation
ofreclassification adjustments out of accumulated other comprehensive income. The amendments
willbe temporary to allow the FASB time to redeliberate the presentation requirements
forreclassifications out of accumulated other comprehensive income for annual and interim
financialstatements for public. private. and non-profit entities.. We are currently assessing the
potentialimpact of the adoption of this amendment on our consolidated financial statements and
related disclosures.



2.

3.

INVENTORIES

Inventories are comprised of the following:

December 31,
2011 2010
Raw materials $ B.303.064 5 T.T28.707
Work-in-process 476,991 4100110
Finished goods ab, 342 273 30,764,439
Feserve for obsolescence or
lower of cost or market (103, 280) {30,700
Tinal 565,019,048 § 58.852.556
| |
IDENTIFIED INTANGIBLE ASSETS
A schedule of identified intangible assets is as follows:
Gross Acoumulated Carrying
December 31, 2001 Amouni Amarilzation Amouni
Trademarks
Whirlesale § 27243578 1 - £ 27243578
Hetail 2. 9040 () - 2,500, 00}
Patenis 2 A0 TR0 2,010,261 349,529
Customer Relatborships 1,000 M0 1, 001, (40 -
Total Intangibles § 33604368 $ 3,011,261 § 30,493,107
EEes——— _— EEe———————
Gross Aooummlated Carrying
December 31, 2010 Amount Amartization Amount
Trademarks
Whodesale § 27243578 ] - £ 27243578
Hetadl 2. 5000, (0 - 2,500, 00
Patenis 2.414.652 2,062,785 350,907
Customer Relstbonships 1000000 1,000,000 -
Total Intangibdes § 33558.270 & 3062785 5 30495485
| E—— | E——

Amortization expense related to finite-lived intangible assets was approximately $48.000, $47,000
and $583,000 in 2011, 2010 and 2009, respectively, Such amortization expense will be
approximately $46,000 per year for 2012 through 2016.

The weighted average lives of patents and customer relationships are 5 years.

Intangible assets. including trademarks and patents are reviewed for impairment annually, and more
frequently, il necessary. 'We perform such testing of indefinite-lived intangible assets in the fourth
quarter of each year or as events occur or circumstances change that would more likely than not
reduce the fair value of the asset below its carrying amount. Fair value, for the testing, of other
indefinite-lived intangible assets is determined using the relief from royalty method.

In assessing whether indefinite-lived intangible assets are impaired. we must make certain estimates
and assumptions regarding future cash flows, long-term growth rates of our business, operating
margins, weighted average cost of capital and other factors such as; discount rates, royalty rates, cost
of capital, and market multiples to determine the fair value of our assets, These estimates and
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assumplions require management’s judgment, and changes to these estimates and assumptions could
materially affect the determination of fair value and/or impairment for each of our indefinite-lived
intangible assets. Future events could cause us to conclude that indications of intangible asset
impairment exist. Impairment may result from, among other things, deterioration in the performance
of our business, adverse market conditions, adverse changes in applicable laws and regulations,
competition, or the sale or disposition of a reporting segment. Any resulting impairment loss could
have a material adverse impact on our financial condition and results of operations.

We evaluate our finite and indefinite lived trademarks under the terms and provisions of the
accounting standards for “Intangibles - Goodwill and Other”™; and “Property, Plant and Equipment.”
These pronouncements require that we compare the fair value of an intangible asset with its carrying
amount. Our 2011 and 2010 evaluation did not result in the impairment of any of our indefinite
lived intangible assets.

OTHER ASSETS

Other assets consist of the following:

December 31,
2011 2010
Deferred financing costs § 33752 $ 410,669
Prepaid rovalties - 396,591
Oiher 173,541 415452
Total § 510,293 $ 1222712
FIXED ASSETS
Fixed assets are comprised of the following;
December 31,
2011 2000
Land 5 6710035 5 6710035
Buildings 17.504.573 17.927.764
Machinery and equipment 30.410.341 28,176,519
Furndture and fixtures 2465.674 A, 206,000
Lasts, dies and paittemns 9. 581,520 14,074,609
Construction work-in-progress 1.926.973 321,207
Total 62,560,116 63377224
Less - accumulated depreciation (39.003.014) (43.247.942)
MNet Fisoed Assets §  23.557.102 § 22129282

We incurred approximately $3,609,000, $5,583,000 and $5,739,000 in depreciation expense for
2011, 2010 and 2009, respectively.



LONG-TERM DEBT

Long-term debt is comprised of the following:

December 31,
Z011 2010
Bank - revolving credit facility § 35,000,000 3 33097833
Feal estate obligations - 1,926,278
Cither - 71,707
Total 35,000, 000 35,095 818
Less - current maturities - 48T 480
Met bong-term debi 5 35,000,000 5 346083318

In May 2010, we amended the terms of our revolving credit facility with GMAC Commercial
Finance ("GMAC") to advance $15 million to the Company under the existing revolving portion of
its credit facility to prepay amounts due under term loans with Laminar Direct Capital L.P. and
Whitebox Hedged High Yield Partners, L.P. After the prepayment. principal under the term loans
totaled $11 million in the aggregate,

Also in May 2010, we completed a public offering of 1.8 million shares of common stock at a price
of $8.40 per share. We received net proceeds from the offering of $14.1 million after deducting $0.9
million in underwriting discounts and $0.1 million in expenses. The proceeds were used to prepay
amounts due under term loans with Laminar Direct Capital L.P. and Whitebox Hedged High Yield
Partners, L.P.

In October 2010, we entered into a new financing agreement with PNC Bank ("PNC”) to provide a
570 million credit facility that replaced the existing revolving credit facility with GMAC. In

addition, the new financing agreement with PNC was used 1o repay the remaining balance of
approximately $11 million under the term loans. The term of the new credit facility is five years and
the current interest rate is generally LIBOR plus 1.50%.

In April 2011, we repaid the remaining balance of approximately $1.8 million on our morngage loans
by borrowing under a sub-facility on the PNC credit facility. The sub-facility is secured by real
estate owned by us, In connection with this transaction, we incurred approximately $0.1 million of
prepayment and other fees that were reported as additional interest expense in the second quarter of
2011. The mortgage loans were incurring interest at 8.28% and were replaced with borrowings
under the credit facility for a current interest rate of LIBOR plus 1.50%.

The total amount available on our revolving credit facility is subject to a borrowing base calculation
based on various percentages of accounts receivable and inventory. As of December 31, 2011, we

had $35.0 million in borrowings under this facility and total capacity of $68.2 million.

Our credit facility contains a restrictive covenant which requires us to maintain a fixed charge
coverage ratio. This restrictive covenant is only in effect upon a triggering event taking place (as
defined in the credit facility agreement). Al December 31, 2011, there was no triggering event and
the covenant was not in effect. Our credit facility places a resiriction on the amount of dividends
that may be paid. Mo cash dividends were paid in 2011, 2010 or 2009,

Owr revolving credit facility matures in 2015. We have no other long-term debt maturities.



OPERATING LEASES

We lease certain machinery, trucks, and facilities under operating leases that generally provide for
renewal options. We incurred approximately $1,583,000, $2,015.000 and $3,259,000 in rent
expense under operating lease arrangements for 2011, 2000 and 2009, respectively.

Future minimum lease payments under non-cancelable operating leases are approximately as
follows for the years ended December 31:

2012 5 1,038,000
2013 463,000
2014 457.000
2015 21,000
2016 -
Toal $ 2,079,000
FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS

Fair value measures are classified into a three-tiered fair value hierarchy, which prioritizes the inputs
used in measuring fair values as follows:

o Level 1 - Observable inputs such as quoted prices in active markets.

o Level 2 - Inputs, other than quoted prices in active markets, that are observable either directly
or indirectly.

s Level 3 - Unobservable inputs in which there is little or no market data, which require a
reporting entity (o develop its own assumptions.

Assets and liabilities measured at fair value are based on one or more of the following valuation
technigques:

o Market approach (Level 1) - Prices and other relevant information generated by market
transactions involving identical or comparable asseis or liabilities.

» Cost approach (Level 2) - Amount that would be required to replace the service capacity of an
asset [replacement cost),

# Income approach (Level 3) - Techniques to convert future amounts to a single present amount

based on market expectations (including present-value techniques, option-pricing and excess
earning models).

The fair values of cash, accounts receivable, other receivables and accounts payable approximated
thelr carrying values because of the short-term nature of these instruments. Accounts recelvable
consists primarily of amounts due from our customers, net of allowances. Other receivables consist
primarily of amounts due from employees (sales persons’ advances in excess of commissions eamed
and employee travel advances); other customer receivables, net of allowances; and expected
insurance recoveries. The carrying amount of our revolving line of credit approximates fair value, as
it is comparable to the available financing in the marketplace during the year.



INCOME TAXES

The Company accounts for income taxes in accordance with the accounting standard for “Income
Taxes”™, which requires an asset and liability approach to financial accounting and reporting for
income taxes. Accordingly, deferred income taxes have been provided for the temporary differences
between the financial reporting and the income tax basis of the Company's assets and liabilities by
applying enacted statutory tax rates applicable to future years to the basis differences.

A breakdown of our income tax expense (benefit) is as follows:

Years Ended December 31,
2011 2010 a1 1]
Federal:
Current 5 2585271 5 ZEMBIR 5 [T0.496)
Deferred 366,042 236,444 133,197
Total Federal 2951.313 3.001,262 262,701
SMate & local:
Currend 250,034 103,993 186574
Dieferred 230,018 1 Iﬁ,ﬁ 4,540
Total State & boscal 450,052 219,379 191,114
Foreign
Current 08,752 Z15476 218,326
Defermed (11,548) [12,630) [15,626)
Total Forelgn 2BT 204 S02 846 222700
Total § 3.727.569 § 3573487 5 676515




A reconciliation of recorded Federal income tax expense (benefit) to the expected expense (benefit)
computed by applying the applicable Federal statutory rate for all periods to income before income
taxes follows:

Years Ended December 31,
2011 2010 2009

Expecied expense al statufory rate £ 4070152 £ 3924136 § 633852
Increase (decrease) in income taxes resuliing from:
Exempi income from Dominican Republic

operations due to tax holiday (1.237.418) (1,034,742) (342.277)
Tax on repatriated eamings from Dominican

Republic operations 472,863 465,992 842,277
Impact of Canadian decmed dividend 43,389 164,956 .
State and local income taxes 327,741 142,596 A7.045
Section 199 manufacturing deduction (103.918) (91.327) (2.041)
Meals and enteriainment 6.3, 506 70,236 T1.20
Mondeductible penalties 84 1,990 2.010
Provision to return filing adjustments and other {10.830) (70.350) {95.605)

Ttal § 3.727.569 $§ 3573487 5 BTG53



Deferred income taxes recorded in the consolidated balance sheets at Decembser 31, 2001 and 2010
consist of the following:

December 31,
2011 2010
Deferred tax assets:
Asael valuation allowances and accrusd expenses 5 959,464 5 1172254
Imventaories 631,192 416,236
State and lecal income taxes A40. TR 333,241
Pemsion and deferred compensation 94,325 1.369,383
Met operating losses 310,087 542,807
Total deferred tax assets 2635806 J833.921
Yaluation allowances {507.211) (530,343
Total deferred tax assets 2,128,595 3.303.578
Dweferned tax liabilities:
Fixed assets (208.435) (223,328)
Intangible assets (10,792.180) (10.525,120)
Oither assets (582 064) (332,443
Tollgate tax on Lifestyle earmnings (379.271) (379.271)
Total deferred tax labilitlies (11,961 950) (11,460,162
Met deferred tax lability 1 E.Eﬂﬂjﬁst 5 !EISE.&M!
Deferred income taxes - curmenl i 1.154.040 5 1218101
Deferred income taxes - non-current (10.987.395) (9.374,685)

The valuation allowance is related 1o certain state and local income tax net operating loss carry
forwards.

We have provided Puerto Rico tollgate taxes on approximately 53,684,000 of accumulated
undistributed earnings of Lifestyle prior to the fiscal year ended June 30, 1994, that would be
payable if such eamings were repatriated to the United States. In 2001, we received abatement for
Puerto Rico wollgate taxes on all earnings subsequent to June 30, 1994, thus no other provision for
tollgate tax has been made on eamnings after that date. If we repatriate the eamings from Lifestyle,
approximately $379,000 of tollgate tax would be due.

As of December 31, 2011, we had approximately $14,741,000 of undistributed eamings from non-
U.5. subsidiaries that are intended to be permanently reinvested in non-U.S. operations. Because
these eamings are considered permanently reinvested, no U.S. 1ax provision has been accrued
related to the repatriation of these earnings. If the Five Star undistributed earnings were distributed
to the Company in the form of dividends, the related taxes on such distributions would be
approximately $5,160,000.

We file income tax returns in the U.S. Federal jurisdiction and various state and foreign
Jurisdictions. We are no longer subject to U5, Federal tax examinations for years before 2008, In
2011, we were subjected to an IRS examination for our consolidated U5 Federal return for the year
2009. There were no adjustments to our return as a result of that examination. State jurisdictions
that remain subject to examination range from 2007 to 2010. Foreign jurisdiction (Canada and
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Puerto Rico) tax returns that remain subject to examination range from 2005 to 2010. We do not
believie there will be any material changes in our unrecognized tax positions over the next 12
months.

Owur policy is to recognize interest and penalties accrued on any unrecognized tax benefits as a
component of income tax expense. As of the date of adoption of the accounting standard for Income
Taxes relating to uncertain tax provisions, accrued interest or penalties were not material, and no
such expenses were recognized during the year.

Accounting for uncertainty in income taxes requires financial statement recognition. measurement
and disclosure of uncertain tax positions recognized in an enterprise’s financial statements. Under
this guidance, income tax positions must meet a more-likely-than-not recognition threshold at the
effective date to be recognized upon the adoption of the standard. The Company did not have any
unrecognized tax benefits and there was no effect on its financial condition or results of operations
as a result of implementing this standard. When necessary. the Company would accrue penalties
and interest related (o unrecognized tax benefits as a component of income tax expense.

RETIREMENT PLANS

Prior to the end of 2011, we sponsored a noncontributory defined benefit pension plan covering our
non-union workers in our Ohlo and Puerto Rico operations. Benefits under the non-union plan were
based upon years of service and highest compensation levels as defined. We contributed to the plan
the minimum amount required by regulation. On December 31, 2005 we froze the noncontributory
defined benefit pension plan for all non-U.S. territorial employees,

In the fourth quarter of 2011, we made a decision to fully fund and terminate the pension
plan.During the fourth quarter, we contributed $4.9 million into the plan and incurred related
expenses and other adjustments of $0.4 million.As a result of these actions, we recorded pension
termination charges totaling $5.3 million and an income tax benefitof $1.6 million.
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The funded status of the Company’s plan and reconciliation of accrued pension cost at

December 31,2011 and 2010 is
plan assets are as of December 31):

Change in benefit obligation:

Projected benefit obligation at beginning of the year
Service cost

Interest cost

Change in discount rate

Curtailment decrease

Actuarial (gain)/loss

Benefits paid

Projected benefit obligation &t end of year

Change in plan asses:

Fair value of plan assets at beginning of year
Employer contribations

Actual return on plan assets

Benefits paid

Fair value of plan assets at end of year

Funded status:

Underfunded

Eemaining unrecognized benefit obligation existing at transition
u prior service costs due to plan amendments

Unrecognized net loss
Toal

Amounts in accumulated other comprehensive income that have
not yet been recognized as net pension cost:

Remaining unrecognized benefit obligation existing at transition

Unrecognized prior service costs due to plan amendments

Unrecognized net loss

Total

Amounis recognized in the consolidated Ninancial ststements:
Pension liability

Accumilated other comprehensive loss, net of tax effect
of 51,661,508 for 2010

Net amount recognized
Accumulaied benefit obligation
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ted below (information with respect 1o benefit obligations and

December 31, December 31,
2011 2010

§ 11548148 % 11181550

123,360 79,9059

65,322 GdE, 708

6,751 24,926

(12,593,581) [384.945)

1 . 5 11.548.148

5 8028855 5  6.B91.675

5038632 Ti5,192

(473,906) BOE.933

(12,593,581) 384,945

5 . %  B.0ZE.B55

1 5 (3.519,293)

g 3§ (3.510.293)
1 ] -

253,651

4.236.846_

5 $_ 4.490497

§ $ (3.519.293)

2 BZE. 980

5 5 (6590.304)

41 . 5 11.548.148



Net pension cost of our plan is as follows:

Years Ended December 31,
2011 2010 2009

Service oosl 5 123,360 5 79,909 5 115372
Interest cost 623,322 646,708 605817
Expected return on assets (626.365) (532.218) (4BG.454)
Amortization of unrecognized et loss 219050 2BT 413 247,143
Amortization of unrecognized transition obligation - - -
Amaortization of unrecognized prior service cost 75,205 72,392 72,392
Net periodic pension cost 3 416572 ] 334,204 5 554,270

Our unrecognized benefit obligation existing at the date of transition for the plan was being
amortized over 21 years. Actuarial assumptions used in the accounting for the plan was as follows:

December 31,
2010
Discount rate 551%
Average rale increase in compensation levels 3.00%
Expected long-term rate of return on plan assets 8.00%

Cr pension plan's asset allocations at December 31, 2010by asset category were;

December 31,
2010
Rocky common stock 9.0%
Other equity securities 61.0%
Municipal bonds 15.0%
Corporate obligations 5.0%
Cash and cash equivalents 1000%:
Total 100.0%
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The fair values of our pension plan assets at December 31, 2010, by asset category were as follows:

Deceiber 31, Zg‘lﬂ
Other significant  unobservable
Quoted Prices observable inputs inputs
Asset Category (Level 1) (Level 2} (Level 3) Tatal
Cash amd cash equivalents 5 B32 672 5 - 5 . 3 BIZ 672
Equity Securities:
L. 5. companies 4.716,610 - - 4,716,610
International companies B50,766 - - Bo0, 76
Corporate obligations 410,841 410,841
Government securibes:
LLS. povernment agencies 1.217 966 - - 1.217 966
§ 8028855 5 - 5 - § B.028855

We also sponsor a 401 (k) savings plan for substantially all of our employvees, We provide a
contribution of 3% of applicable salary (o the plan for all employees with greater than six months of
service. Additionally, we match eligible employee contributions at a rate of 0.25%, per one percent
of applicable salary contributed to the plan by the employee, This matching contribution will be
made by us up 1o a maximum of 1% of the employee’s applicable salary for all qualified employees.
Our contributions to the 401 (k) plan were approximately $1.0 million in 2011, $1.0 million in 2010
and $1.0 million in 20049,

COMMITMENTS AND CONTINGENCIES

We are, from time to time, a party to litigation which arises in the normal course of its business.
Although the ultimate resolution of pending proceedings cannot be determined, in the opinion of
management, the resolution of such proceedings in the aggregate will not have a material adverse
effect on our financial position, results of operations. or liquidity.

CAPITAL STOCK AND STOCK BASED COMPENSATION

The Company has authorized 250,000 shares of voting preferred stock without par value. No shares
are issued or outstanding. Also, the Company has authorized 250,000 shares of non-voting
preferred stock without par value, OF these, 125,000 shares have been designated Series A non-
voling convertible preferred stock with a stated value of $.06 per share, of which no shares are
issued or outstanding at December 31, 2011 and 2010, respectively.

In June 2009, our Board of Directors adopted a Rights Agreement, which provides for one preferred
share purchase right to be associated with each share of our outstanding commeon stock.
Shareholders exercising these rights would become entitled to purchase shares of Series B Junlor
Participating Cumulative Preferred Stock, The rights are exercisable after the time when a person or
group of persons without the approval of the Board of Directors acquire beneficial ownership of 20
percent or more of our common stock or announce the initiation of a tender or exchange offer which
if successful would cause such person or group to beneficially own 20 percent or more of the
common stock. Such exercise would ultimately entitle the holders of the rights 1o purchase at the
exercise price, shares of common stock of the surviving corporation or purchaser, respectively, with
an aggregate market value equal to two times the exercise price. The person or groups effecting
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such 20 percent acquisition or undertaking such tender offer would not be entitled to exercise any
rights. These rights expire during July 2012.

Om October 11, 1995, we adopted the 1995 Stock Option Plan which provides for the issuance of
options to purchase up to 400,000 common shares. In May 1998, we adopted the Amended and
Restated 1995 Stock Option Plan which provides for the issuance of options to purchase up to an
additional 500,000 common shares. In addition in May 2002, our shareholders approved the
issuance of a wotal of 400,000 additional common shares of our stock under the 1995 Stock Option
Plan. All employees, officers, directors, consultants and advisors providing services 1o us are
eligible to receive options under the Plans. On May 11, 2004 our shareholders approved the 2004
Stock Incentive Plan. The 2004 Stock Incentive Plan includes 750,000 of our common shares that
may be granted for stock options and restricted stock awards. As of December 31, 2011, the
Company is authorized 1o issue 347823 options under the 2004 Stock Incentive Plan; no options can
be granted under the amended and restated 1995 Stock Option Plan.

The plans generally provide for grants with the exercise price equal to fair value on the date of grant,
graduated vesting periods of up to 5 years, and lives not exceeding 10 years.

The following summarizes stock option transactions from January 1, 2010 through December 31,
2011:

Weighted Weighted
Average Average Aggregate
Numbser of Exercise Remaining Intrinsic

Options Price Actual Term Value

Outstanding at December 31, 2009 335.250 5 1825

Issued - 5 -

Exercised (34.250) 1 557

Farfeited (69,000} £ 1881
Ouistanding at December 31, 2010 232,000 £ 19895 0ng % 167,753
Options exercisable at December 31, 20010 232,000 5 1985 0g % 167,753
Unvested aptions at Decembser 31, 2000 - 1 - - i -
Duistanding at December 31, 20010 232,000 £ 1995

T s - 1 -

Exercised (310000 8§ 7.28

Farfieited (81,000} 8 2625
Outstanding at December 31, 2011 100,000 8 21.31 04 & -
Owptions exercisable at December 31, 2011 100,000 § 7131 04 1 -

_— ——  ————

Unwvested options at December 31, 2011

There were no options granted during the years 2011, 2010 or 2009.
During the years ended December 31, 2011, 2010 and 2009, a total of 51,000, 34,250 and 29,250

options were exercised with an intrinsic value of approximately $0.1 million, $0.2 million and $0.1
million, respectively. During the years ended December 31, 2011, 2010 and 2009, there were no
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options issued. During the year ended December 31, 2011, a total of 81,000 options were forfeited
with a fair value of approximately $0.9 million. A total of 5,000 options vested during the year
ended December 31, 2009 with zero fair value. Mo options vested during the years ended December
31, 2001 and 2010, At December 31, 2011 and 2010, there were no options unvested. For the
twelve-month periods ended December 31, 2011 and 2010, there was no compensation expense
related to stock option grants.

During the year ended December 31, 2011, we issued 12,208 shares of common stock (o members
of our Board of Directors. We recorded compensation expense of $122.500, which was the fair

market value of the shares on the grant date. The shares are fully vested but cannot be sold for one
year.

In May 2010, the Company completed a public offering of 1.8 million shares of common stock at a
price of $8.40 per share. We received net proceeds from the offering of $14.1 million after
deducting $0.9 million in underwriting discounts and $0.1 million in expenses. The proceeds were
used 1o prepay amounts due under term loans with Laminar Direct Capital L.P. and Whitebox
Hedged High Yield Partners, L.P. After the prepayment. principal under the term loans totaled $26
million in the aggregate. The term loans have an interest rate of 11.5% payable semi-annually over
the five year term of the notes. In connection with this transaction, $0.2 million of prepayment fees
and $0.2 million of non-cash charges related to deferred financing fees were incurred and have been
reflected as a component of interest expense.

SUPPLEMENTAL CASH FLOW INFORMATION

Supplemental cash flow information including other cash paid for interest and Federal, state and
local income taxes was as follows:

Years Ended December 31,
2011 2010 2009
Interest paid § 1037301 § 4824238 §  6.749.462
Federal. state and local income taxes paid - net
of refunds § 4690479 § 281043 § 222629
Capitalized interest 5 1,394 5 8,330 § 5.0983
Fixed asset purchases in accounts payable 5 154,170 5 560,248 5 151,534
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14. SEGMENT INFORMATION

Operating Segments - We operate our business through three business segments: wholesale, retail
and military.

Whaolesale. In our wholesale segment, our products are offered in over ten thousand retail locations
representing a wide range of distribution channels in the U.5. and Canada. These distribution
channels vary by product line and target market and include sporting goods stores, outdoor retailers,

ndent shoe retailers, hardware stores, catalogs, mass merchants, uniform stores, farm store
chains, specialty safety stores and other specialty retailers.

Retail, In our retail segment, we sell our products directly to consumers through our Lehigh mobile
and retall stores, our Rocky outlet store and our websites. Our Lehigh operations include a fleet of
trucks, supported by small warehouses that include retail stores. which we refer to as mini-stores.
Through our outlet store, we generally sell first quality or discontinued products in addition o a
limited amount of factory damaged goods, which typically carry lower gross margins.

Military. While we are focused on continuing (o build our wholesale and retail business, we also
actively bid. from time to time, on footwear contracts with the U.S. military. Our sales under such

contracts are dependent on us winning the bids for these contracts.In July 2009, we were awarded a
$29.0 million blanket purchase order from the GSA to produce footwear for the U.S. Military. While there is
approximately $10 million remaining under this purchase order. we do pot currently expect 1o make any
significant additional shipments. We currently do not expect a renewal of this contract.
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The following is a summary of segment results for the Wholesale, Retail, and Military segments.

Years Ended December 31,
011 2010 2009
MET SALES:
Wholesale 5 192554085 3 1BE. 268830 3 174,260,793
Retail 44 812 808 4T ATG.T15 007177
Military &.2032,. 189 I7.046.7T18 .21 7 600
Total MNet Sales § 239599096 3 252792563 5 L0 485 575
GROSS MARGIN:
Whobesale 5 66,936 863 3 63470287 5 . 362741
Retail 20655 454 21, TESGT £3.435.034
Miliary 298 438 2117350 359581
Total Gross Margin 5 BT 030,735 3 BOATET14 5 E4.557 156

Segment asset information is not prepared or used to assess segment performance.

Product Group Information - The following Is supplemental information on net sales by product

Eroup:
B ol o al % of
2011 Sales i Sales ] Salbes
Work footwear §121,731.462 S508% 5 133970454 53.0% 5 124,005,030 5, 1%
Chadoor foofwear 26,960,781 11.3% 0066047 10.3% 26,541,959 I1.6%
Western footwear 32,101,389 134% 30,707,353 12.1% 20,522 876 12.9%
Dty and commercial
military footwear 3.2TBOTS 14.3% Z2.190,068 BE% 19,869,232 8.7%
Military lootwear 2,232,199 5% 1746718 6.7% 5,217,600 2.7%
Apparel 12,954,362 5A% 11,520,959 1.6% 12,210,926 5.1%
Cither 0. H40.828 19% 11281634 1.5% 12.027.952 3.2%
§ 235,595,096 I 5§ 252752263 100% 5§ 2F94E5.575 0%

Net sales to foreign countries, primarily Canada, representedapproximately 4.1% of net sales

in2011, 3.1% of net sales in 2000 and 2.4% of net sales in 200%,
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15. QUARTERLY RESULTS OF OPERATIONS (UNAUDITED)

The following is a summary of the unaudited quarterly resulis of operations for the years ended
December 31, 2011 and 2010

15t Daarier 2md Quarier Ird Ohzarier Ath Chuarier Tatal Year
2011
et sales 5 52306275 § 5IB2ER 5 TLDZ0S546 5§ BI9A9.E43 §  239.5599.006
Gross margin 19265545 200617328 25,590,157 22457325 (a) BT.930.755
Met income 541,616 2270 T 5212267 ZT331E (W B.306 805
Met imoome per common share;
Basic 5 o7 5 0w 5 0.70 5 004 5 1.11
Diluied 5 o7 5 0w § 0.70 5 04 5 1.11
2010
et sales § 56078585 § 5522308 §  T4.7T60.244 § BETI9579 5§ 252.7T92.2G3
Gross margin 18.756, 849 1900084 27.184.585 § 24332186 EO3T2TI4
Met income (loss) (564, T44) 523610 4 682 355 £ 303851 THE3.TIZ
Met income (lass) per commaon shane;
Basic 5 (im 0,0 i 0.63 5 oAl 5 i.14
Déluied ] oo % 0.0 ] 0.63 5 LET] 1 1.14

No cash dividends were padd during 2001 or 2000
() Includes a retail imventony adjustment that reduced reduced gross mangin by $0.8 millicn

(b} Inchedes persion termination charges of approsimately $3.653,000 or 50,49 per share, pet of tax benefits,

F-28



16. RESTRUCTURING CHARGES

Dwring the fourth quarter of 2009, we initiated a comprehensive series of actions to reduce the
operating cost sirecture and increase the operating efficiency of both our wholesale and retail
divisions. These actions involved the relocation of our wholesale division's customer care function
from Franklin, Tennessee to Nelsonville, Ohio; and the closing of underperforming mini-siores and
trucks in our redail division. These charges were composed of severance and employee benefits
related costs; transition costs; and facility exit costs. which includes facility shut down and lease
contract termination costs. As a result of these actions, we recorded $711,169 of restructuring
charges that are included in the 2009 Consolidated Results of Operations under the caption
Restructuring charges.

The schedule below summarizes the charges included in the accompanying consolidated statement
of operations for 2010 for our wholesale and retail divisions:

Linbiliny Liahiliny
B:!h'lning Ell.nl
Balance Balance
1273172004 Expe nse Paymenis 127312010
Whaolesale
Severance and
emip boy oe beneflis 5 148,080 5 148,080 £
Tramsition costs
Facility exdt cosis 31,475 31,475
Todal Whabkesale 5 179,555 5 - 5 179,555 5
Reiail
Severance and
emp boy ee beneflis 5 - 5 - 5
Tramsinion costs 36,091 36,081
Fa:i]ll:,r exdl cosls 160,717 160,717
Tuodal Retail 5 15946,.808 5 - 5 196,308 i
Tatal 5 J76, 363 5 B b1 376,363 s
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